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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHEEE

| have pleasure in presenting the financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2015.

The Group is principally engaged in property development and
trading, industrial water supply business, trading of securities and
the holding of other strategic investments.

Property Development

During the year, the Group continued its focus on the flagship
project, & #E& AE, located in Guangzhou, the PRC. The building
was topped out and in the stage of interior decoration. The Group
expects to handover the title of the serviced-apartments to the
buyers by the end of the year after obtaining the licences from the
relevant governmental authorities. The pre-sale of the serviced-
units is underway and is in good progress notwithstanding that it
was behind the initial schedule due to the sluggish property market
in the PRC in the past year. Nevertheless, following the increase in
accumulated wealth generated from the booming stock market,
the Company expects that demand for new residential flats shall
be driven up in the coming months. The related sales revenue is
expected to be accounted for in the income statement of the Group
during the first quarter of 2016. Furthermore, certain international
and prestige local brands have signed lease contracts to anchor at
the shopping arcade. Thus, the Group expects to receive a stable
revenue stream in the coming years.

Water Supply
During the year, the water supply plant of the Group in Shandong

Province, the PRC continues to provide positive contribution and a
stable income stream to the Group.
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Strategic Investments

The Group has completed its acquisition of the associate, Rosedale
Hotel Holdings Limited, in December 2014. This shall enhance the
market competiveness of the Group. The management is in the
process of reviewing the business strategy of both the Group and
Rosedale and aims at to streamline and differentiate the business
focuses between the Group and Rosedale so as to make the best use

of their strength and resources.
A Word of Gratitude

I would like to offer my sincere thanks to my fellow board members,
the management and employees for their extremely hard work,
enthusiasm, resourcefulness, and contribution to the Group in the

past year.

Dr. Yap Allan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEE KD

Results and Financial Review

Results

For the year ended 31 March 2015,
consolidated loss before non-controlling interests was HK$87.6

the Group’s audited

million (2014: HK$108.6 million), which comprised mainly revenue
from water supply business of HK$25.1 million (2014: HK$26.7
million), revenue from sales of properties held for sale of HK$95.0
million (2014: HK$nil), cost of sales of HK$105.3 million (2014:
HK$13.7 million), other income of HK$4.8 million (2014: HK$3.8
million), net gain on other gains and losses, other income and other
expenses of HK$19.2 million (2014: net loss of HK$18.8 million),
distribution costs of HK$13.5 million (2014: HK$nil), administrative
expenses of HK$88.6 million (2014: HK$82.1 million), finance
costs of HK$14.8 million (2014: HK$13.1 million), loss on fair
value changes on investments held for trading of HK$22.6 million
(2014: HK$13.5 million), share of profit of associates of HK$14.8
million (2014: HK$0.2 million) and income tax expense of HK$1.7
million (2014 tax credit of HK$1.9 million). The increase in share
of results of associates came mainly from the Group’s associate,
China Enterprises Limited, the profit of which was a result from
the reversal of a tax provision made on the gain on disposal of an
investment in the PRC in previous years.

The audited loss for the year attributable to the equity holders was
HK$75.3 million (2014: HK$102.0 million) and the basic loss per
share was HK$0.06 (2014: HK$0.09).
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Segment Results

Property development and trading

During the year, the Group continued its focus on the flagship
project, #EE# & K&, located at Jixiang Road, Guangzhou, and
accounted for as properties under development for sale, which is to
be developed into a commercial complex with serviced apartments
and a modern shopping mall. The building was topped out and in
the stage of interior decoration. The pre-sell of the serviced-units is
underway and is in good progress.

On the other hand, segment turnover for trading activity amounted
to HK$95.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2015 while no
segment turnover was recorded for the year in 2014. The segment
turnover came from the disposal of certain trading properties
held for sale located in the PRC. Segment result recorded a loss
of HK$26.0 million, decreased by HK$10.7 million (29.2%) from
HK$36.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2014.

Trading of Securities

Segment proceeds amounted to HK$50.2 million for the year
ended 31 March 2015, increased by HK$36.3 million (261.2%)
from HK$13.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2014. The
segment recorded a loss of HK$22.5 million (2014: HK$13.3 million)
attributable mainly to loss realised upon disposal of certain listed
securities in the market.

Water Supply

During the year under review, the Group maintained a revenue
inflow in the water supply segment. The Group will continuously
put effort in scaling up the water supply through negotiating with
existing customers and implement effective costs control measures
in this business in order to boost the profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEE KD

For water supply segment, the revenue was HK$25.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2015, decreased by HK$1.6 million (6.0%)
from 2014 and segment result recorded a profit of HK$5.6 million,
decreased by HK$2.4 million from HK$8.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2014.

Interest in Associates

During the year, share of results of associates amounted to
HK$14.8 million (2014: HK$0.2 million). It was mainly attributable
to share of profit of HK$21.0 million (2014: HK$6.0 million) from
China Enterprises Limited, share of loss of HK$1.1 million (2014:
HKS$nil) from the newly acquired Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited
(“Rosedale”) and share of loss of HK$5.1 million (2014: HK$5.7

million) from Fortune Well Holdings Limited.

Liquidity

Bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2015 were HK$149.3 million
(31 March 2014: HK$403.2 million). The gearing ratio (borrowings/
shareholders’ funds) at 31 March 2015 increased to 64.7% (31
March 2014: 59.5%). As at 31 March 2015, bank and other
borrowings of the Group were approximately HK$1,575.5 million
(31 March 2014: HK$1,411.3 million). The increase in borrowings
was mainly due to: (i) a promissory note of HK$300.0 million issued
to ITC Management Limited in satisfaction of partial settlement
for acquisition of the sale share and the sale loan of Leaptop
Investments Limited which indirectly holds 22.58% of Rosedale
and (ii) repayment of approximately HK$111.2 million of loan for
financing of the construction of the property development project
at Jixiang Road, Guangzhou. The bank and other borrowings of the
Group as at both 31 March 2014 and 2015 bore floating interest
rates.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2015, certain assets of the Group with carrying
value of approximately HK$4,564.2 million (31 March 2014:
HK$3,450.4 million) were pledged to banks and financial institutions

for loan facilities granted to the Group.

Exchange rate and interest rate risks exposure

The majority of the Group's business transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi. The
Group will consider entering into hedging contracts to eliminate
any exposures to downside risks, whenever the Group and the
concerned foreign subsidiaries think fit. At the reporting date, the
Group did not enter into any interest rate speculative and hedging
contracts.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2015, a corporate guarantee to the extent of
HK$75.0 million (31 March 2014: HK$75.0 million) was provided by
the Group to a bank in respect of banking facilities granted to an
associate. The banking facilities of approximately HK$34.0 million
was utilised by the associate (31 March 2014: HK$38.4 million) as at
31 March 2015. The Group did not have other significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEE KD

Material acquisitions and disposals

On 29 September 2010, an agreement was entered into between
Vigorous World Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, ITC Properties Holdings Group Limited, ITC Properties
Group Limited and the Company in relation to the acquisition of
50% interest in ITC Properties (China) Limited at a consideration
of HK$480 million. The principal assets of ITC Properties (China)
Limited and its subsidiaries are a parcel of land located in Yuexiu
District in Guangzhou, the People’s Republic of China. Such land is
adjacent to the property development project held by the Group.

As at 30 May 2014, no further extension of the Long Stop Date
was agreed. Accordingly, the agreement lapsed and ceased to be of
any effect immediately after 30 May 2014. The deposit of HK$350
million was refunded thereafter.

On 11 April 2014, Hanny Investment Group Limited (“the
Purchaser”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the acquisition agreement with ITC Investment Holdings Limited
(“the Vendor”), a company wholly-owned by ITC Corporation
Limited, the Purchaser conditionally agreed to purchase the entire
issued share capital of Leaptop Investments Limited (”Leaptop”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Vendor and the unsecured
and interest-free loan owing by Leaptop to the Vendor at the
consideration, being HK$575,000,000 by cash. The transaction was
approved by shareholders of the Company in the special general
meeting held on 27 November 2014 and was completed on 22
December 2014. Upon completion, a total of HK$275,000,000 was
paid and the balance of HK$300,000,000 was settled by delivery of
a promissory note payable to the Vendor and due on 22 December
2015.
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Acquisition of Properties

On 29 May 2015, Precise Skill Investments Limited (“the
Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Dr. Yap Allan, the chairman, an executive director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, entered into an acquisition
agreement and on 8 June 2015, a supplemental agreement.
Pursuant to the agreements, the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase, and Dr. Yap has conditionally agreed to sell,
the entire issued share capital of and the shareholder’s loan to
Smartmedia Ltd. which is wholly and beneficially owned by Dr. Yap,
at a maximum consideration of HK$195,900,008. Smartmedia Ltd.
entered into provisional agreements to acquire the property at 41/F,
“15 Chong Yip Street”, Nos. 13, 15, 17 & 19 Chong Yip Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong on 28 May 2015 and to acquire
the six car parks on 5/F at the same location on 8 June 2015.
Effectively, Dr. Yap on-sell Smartmedia Ltd. to the Group at cost. The
circular providing further information of the transactions has been
despatched on 24 July 2015.

Employees and remuneration policies

At 31 March 2015, there were 113 employees (31 March 2014:
105) employed by the Group. The remuneration policies are
formulated on the basis of performance of individual employees
and the prevailing salaries’ trends in the various regions. They are
subject to be reviewed every year. The Group also provides employee
training programs, a mandatory provident fund scheme, medical

insurance and discretionary bonuses.

LG 2YES

RRRz —HEEZ2EWEB R A Precise
Skill Investments Limited ([E 77| ) EBER
BET (RAAFRER PTEFHRIER
R)R—_ZE—RAFRA-+tNHFTZWE
. YR —_ZT—RFENAN\BMMARE
iE - BEZSEH S EHAERKERERE
& 18 = F 1§14 R & % Smartmedia Ltd.
(HEBLI2EREZER) 2T HITR
AERRER  KE&S/195,900,008%
JC° Smartmedia Ltd. D BN =T —HF H
BA-+NBER-Z—HEANBIIE
TR HE WEBUREBSNEEEA X
#1315 17 R 195 [BI ZEE155% ] 4152
ZWE - AR R — B 2 N EEEAL -
EE+TER ERK A Smartmedia Ltd. 8
EFAEE - ARFER_ZT—HFLtA
TR EE—MHEK BRHEERSZ
E—FEHR-

& B R R

R-ZE—RFE=ZA=+—HB KXEEERH
1M3ZEE(ZE—WF=A=+—8:
1054) * HEBUR HIRBERIE 8 2 KB
RAEMEERFFMBEMmMEIE A&
EeTFRal HFMEE ARETREE
JIEtE BB AEeEE BERREB R
BIEIEAFIES -

Annual Report 2014/2015 ## 11




Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEE KD

Outlook

Consequent to the growing number of transactions and share
price index of both the Shenzhen and Shanghai stock market, the
accumulated wealth of the consumers grew in line accordingly. This
gave rise to the increase in disposal income in the private sector and
drove the demand for new residential properties. Taking advantage
of this atmosphere, the Group shall continuously focus its marketing
resources on the sale of the serviced-apartments of its flagship
project, FE & #3@ KB, located in the city centre of Guangzhou.
The Group expects to handover the title of the serviced-apartments
to the buyers by the end of the year after obtaining the licenses
from the relevant governmental authorities. Consequently, the
related sales revenue is expected to be accounted for in the income

statement of the Group during the first quarter of 2016.

Besides, the Group is in the process of reviewing the business
strategy of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited, an associate acquired
by the Group in December 2014. The management aims at to
streamline and focus the business of Rosedale so as to accelerate its

contribution to the results of the Group in the coming future.
The Group will continuously and cautiously identify further lucrative

land investment opportunities to build up its land reserve in Hong

Kong and in the PRC to maximise the wealth of its shareholders.
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Directors Profile
EEZEF

Executive Directors

Dr. YAP Allan, aged 59, joined the Company in 1995. In September
2008, Dr. Yap was elected as the Chairman of the Company. Dr.
Yap holds an Honorary degree of Doctor of Laws and has over 30
years' experience in finance, investment and banking. Dr. Yap is
an alternate director of Television Broadcasts Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Dr. Yap is the chairman
and chief executive officer of China Enterprises Limited, a company
whose shares are traded on the OTC Securities Market in the United
States of America, as well as Burcon NutraScience Corporation, a
company whose shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange
in Canada, the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in Germany and NASDAQ
Stock Exchange in the United States of America. Dr. Yap is the
executive chairman of Hanwell Holdings Limited and Tat Seng
Packaging Group Ltd., both of which are companies whose shares

are listed on the Singapore Exchange Limited.

Dr. Yap was appointed as executive director and chairman of
Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited with effect from 30 December
2014 and was appointed as executive director of Meike International
Holdings Limited with effect from 11 June 2015, both of which are
companies whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Directors Profile
EEGF

Mr. HEUNG Pik Lun, Edmond, aged 53, joined the Group in
December 2010 as a director of Hanny Development (China)
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and was subsequently appointed as an Executive Director
in February 2011. Mr. Heung is responsible for strategic planning

and developing property development business of the Group.

Mr. Heung has started developing real estate projects in China since
1992 and has maintained a strong business network. Possessing
in-depth knowledge in the South China market, Mr. Heung has
participated over a hundred real estate development projects. Prior
to entering the China property development market, Mr. Heung also
has decades of property development experience in Canada and
South East Asia.

Mr. Heung is a holder of a bachelor’'s degree of Arts from Windsor
University, Canada. Mr. Heung is a member of ISCM (Institute
of Shopping Centre Management) since 2011 and in June
2013, he was also elected a professional member of RICS (The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors) as a Chartered Project
Management Surveyor.

On 28 January 2015, Mr. Heung resigned and ceased to be an
independent non-executive director of See Corporation Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock

Exchange.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KWOK Ka Lap, Alva, aged 67, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director since July 2003. He was a marketing manager
in an international company engaging in the design of business
administration system. Mr. Kwok has been in the insurance and
investments business for over 30 years, principally in the senior
managerial position leading a sizable sales team. Mr. Kwok is an
independent non-executive director of ITC Properties Group Limited
and Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited, both of which are companies

whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. POON Kwok Hing, Albert, aged 54, has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director since February 2007. Mr. Poon graduated
from the University of Bath, United Kingdom with a Master of
Science degree in Business Administration. He is also a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the CPA Australia. Mr. Poon is currently an independent
non-executive director of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock

Exchange.

Mr. Poon was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Meike International Holdings Limited with effect from 23 June
2015, a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. SIN Chi Fai, aged 55, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since January 2008. Mr. Sin is a director and a shareholder
of a Singapore company engaged in the distribution of data
storage media and computer related products in Asian countries.
He obtained a diploma in Banking from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a
member of the Singapore Institute of Directors. He has over 18 years
of experience in banking field and sales and marketing experience
in information technology industries. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange and an independent non-executive director of China
Enterprises Limited, a company whose shares are traded on the OTC
Securities Market in the United States of America.
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Hanny Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to ensuring
and maintaining good standards of corporate governance, geared
to achieving corporate goals and enhancing the interests of
shareholders. The board of Directors (the “Board”) formalises the
corporate governance practices of the Company by adopting its
corporate governance code based on the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code"”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The CG Code along with the
Bye-Laws of the Company and the terms of references of the Board
Committees, provide the corporate governance framework of the
Company. This report discloses how the Company has applied the
principles of the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2015.

Compliance with the CG Code

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2015, except with
deviations from code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The role of the chief executive is currently
performed by the chairman of the Company, Dr. Yap Allan. The
Board has evaluated such arrangement which has been in effect for
some years, and considers that it will not impair the effectiveness
of the Board as well as the management of the operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The independent non-executive directors of the Company are not
appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by
rotation at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance
with the Bye-Laws of the Company. As at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the directors of the Company (or such number
as nearest to but not less than one-third) must retire by rotation,
each of the directors of the Company is effectively appointed for a

term of two to three years.
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The Board

The Board currently comprises five members, including two
executive directors, Dr. Yap Allan (Chairman) and Mr. Heung Pik
Lun, Edmond and three independent non-executive directors, Mr.
Kwok Ka Lap, Alva, Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert and Mr. Sin Chi Fai.
Biographical details of the Directors and the relevant relationships
among them, if any, are set out in the "Directors Profile” on pages
13 to 15 of the annual report.

The Board includes a balanced composition of executive directors
and independent non-executive directors and possesses a wide
spectrum of relevant skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of the Group's business. One of the independent non-
executive directors has the professional accounting qualifications
as required under the Listing Rules. The Company has received
confirmation from each non-executive director about his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board

considers all of the non-executive directors to be independent.

The Board ordinarily holds four meetings per year, and on other
occasions as and when required. Members of the Board are
advised to inform the Company Secretary if they wish to include
matters in the agenda before the relevant regular Board meeting.
All Board members are kept informed of material changes about
the businesses of the Group and have full access to the Company
Secretary with a view to ensuring the Board procedures are
followed.
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Eleven Board meetings and two general meetings were held during
the year ended 31 March 2015. Individual attendances of each
Board member at these Board meetings and general meetings are
shown below:

REBE-_ZE-—HEF=A=+—RHILFE
TT—REFEEELM
E=gNBHEZRTES
EERLERARG ZERIBERETIAT

Board

Meetings Meetings
attended/held attended/held
EHE B8Tz BHE 8T

General

Directors ) EE2RBARH BEAXEGRE
Executive Directors HITEE

Dr. Yap Allan BERBELT 10/11 0/2
Mr. Heung Pik Lun, Edmond M2 fm k£ 11/11 2/2
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIHHITEE

Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva R AE 11/11 2/2
Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert o B B 5 A 11/11 2/2
Mr. Sin Chi Fai HEEE A 11/11 12

All the Directors participated in the continuous professional
development programme of the Company which aims at
enabling the Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and to perform their duties. They are also encouraged to attend
suitable trainings at the expense of the Company. The continuous
professional development programme arranged by the Company
during 2014/2015 focused on topics about corporate governance,
regulatory updates and financial affairs. Each of the Directors has
provided the Company a record of training he received during the
year.
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Reading materials/
receiving briefings Seminars/e-courses

and updates and other trainings

MEEN %2 E#eE  EF
Directors B= BAREHER RERHAEI
Dr. Yap Allan BEREE+ v/ v/
Mr. Heung Pik Lun, Edmond mEmLAE v v/
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva LA v/ v/
Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert & B B 5 A v/ v/
Mr. Sin Chi Fai HEEBRE v v
The Board represents shareholders of the Company in managing BEEEgRERARABRREEARALG EE

the Company's affairs with the objective of enhancing shareholders
value, and represents the highest level of authority in the
governance structure of the Company. Its principal functions are to
formulate corporate strategies and directions particularly in relation
to operating plans, corporate governance, business development,
to monitor and control the operating and financial performance
of the Group. The Board has established four committees with
specific responsibilities to manage and oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Each committee is appointed with written
terms of reference and is accountable to the full Board. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the Executive
Committee. The delegation of responsibilities and authority
is reviewed regularly to ensure that the appropriate reporting
systems are in place. The Board has reserved for its decision
and consideration matters covering corporate strategy, dividend
policy, major acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions,
annual and interim results, changes of members of the Board and
its committees, and other significant operational and financial
matters. A written procedure has been agreed for Directors to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense upon

their request.

The Board determines the policy for the corporate governance of
the Company, and reviews annually its effectiveness taking into
account the development of the Group’s business and the external

environment.
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The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive are currently
performed by Dr. Yap Allan. A division of responsibilities at the
Board level has been maintained to entail a balance of power
and authority. The Board will continue to review the management
structure ensuring appropriate management development and
succession plans, taking into consideration the nature and extent of
the Group's operation.

The Company has arranged for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance to indemnify its Directors and management staff against
potential liabilities incurred by them in discharging their duties.
The insurance coverage for the Directors and management staff is
reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Committees

The Board has established committees to assist in carrying out its
responsibilities. Four committees have been appointed, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee. The committees
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and report
regularly to the Board.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises all executive directors, currently
Dr. Yap Allan and Mr. Heung Pik Lun, Edmond. The Executive

Committee meets as and when required to oversee the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group’s business.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-
executive directors and one executive director. The current members
of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva (who
acts as chairman of the committee), Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert
and Dr. Yap Allan.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors’ and senior management’s remuneration,
on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management, and on the remuneration of non-executive
directors. The remuneration packages of Directors are based on their
individual performance, salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group. The Remuneration Committee will ensure
that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration and have access to professional advice if

considered necessary.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31
March 2015 and reviewed the structure and levels of remuneration
paid to executive directors and levels of fees paid to non-executive
directors, and discussed long-term incentive plans for Group
employees. Individual attendance of each Remuneration Committee

member at the meeting is shown below:
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Remuneration Committee
Meeting attended/held

Remuneration Committee Member FHEEERE BHE CEITZFHNZESERINH
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva M=k 1/1
Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert i B o A 11
Dr. Yap Allan BEREELT 1/1

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on both the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-
executive directors and one executive director. The members of the
Nomination Committee are Dr. Yap Allan (who acts as chairman of
the committee), Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva and Mr. Poon Kwok Hing,
Albert.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board and identify individuals suitably qualify to
become Board members as well as nominates and recommends to

the Board candidates for filling vacancies on the Board.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of
the board diversity policy adopted by the Board in 2013. The policy
is to ensure that the Board members with the necessary range of
knowledge and skills embrace diversity in regional and industry

experience, cultural and educational background, age and gender.

At a meeting of the Nomination Committee held during the year
ended 31 March 2015, the committee assessed the independence
of the non-executive Directors and reviewed the contributions and
time required from the Directors. Individual attendance of each
Nomination Committee member at the meeting is shown below:
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Nomination Committee
Meeting attended/held

Nomination Committee Member REZEEERE CHE BETZREZEEEENH
Dr. Yap Allan EXRBELT 1/1
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva ek 1/1
Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert % B B 5T A 171

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on
both the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.
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Audit Committee

Major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(@) To consider the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the auditor, and to approve the remuneration and the terms of
engagement of the auditor, and any questions of resignation
or dismissal of the auditor of the Company;

(b)  To review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
auditor and effectiveness of the audit process and discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations;

(c)  To review annual report and accounts, half-year report before
submission to the Board;

(d) To review the financial controls, internal controls and risk
management system of the Group and make recommendations
to the Board; and

(e) To review the auditor's management letter and material
queries raised by the auditor to management in respect of
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management'’s response.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors. The current members of the Audit Committee are Mr.
Poon Kwok Hing, Albert (who acts as chairman of the committee),
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva and Mr. Sin Chi Fai. All Audit Committee
members have appropriate qualifications and experience to properly
discharge its roles and responsibilities.
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During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Audit Committee held
two meetings to review with the management and the auditor the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
and the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2014, with recommendations to the Board for
approval; to review the effectiveness of internal control system; and
to approve the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor
for the year ended 31 March 2015. Individual attendance of each
Audit Committee member at these meetings is shown below:

REBEE-_T—RAE=ZA=Z+—HILLEFE
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Audit Committee
Meetings attended/held

Audit Committee Member ERZEERE EHE CETZEXRZESEENY
Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert v B B 5 A 2/2
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva PEE 2/2
Mr. Sin Chi Fai SRR T A 2/2

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on both

the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.
Auditor’s Remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the amount paid to Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu, the auditor of the Company in respect of the

audit and non-audit services provided are as follows:
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Amount

-]

HK$'000

Type of services REER THET
Audit Bz 3,493
Non-audit services IEE LIRS 3,310
Total: A5t 6,803
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Compliance with the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions (the “Model Code”). Having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all Directors have confirmed their
compliance with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2015.

Directors’ and Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial
statements to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flow for the period concerned.
In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2015, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and,
apart from the new and revised accounting policies as disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, applied
them consistently with previously financial periods. The Directors
have made judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and the financial statements are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the auditor are set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 36 to 37.
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Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness, particularly in respect of the controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to achieve the
Company’s business strategies and the Group’s business operations.
The Board has adopted an internal control policy, which has been
developed with a primary objective of providing general guidance
and recommendations on a basic framework of internal control and
risk management. The aim of the Group's internal control policy is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss rather than to eliminate risks of failure in

operational systems and achievement of the objectives of the Group.

The Company conducts annual reviews on the effectiveness of
the internal control system covering material controls in financial,
operational and compliance areas, various functions for risks

management as well as physical and information systems security.

During the year, the Company has engaged an independent
consultant to perform an internal control system review and
to prepare a report (the “Internal Control Review Report”) to
enable the management of the Company to evaluate and provide
reasonable assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, providing reliable financial reporting, complying with
applicable laws and regulations and, where appropriate, carry
out the recommended controls procedures of the Internal Control
Review Report. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Internal

Control Review Report.

The Audit Committee has been reported twice during the year, in

conjunction with key findings identified by the external auditor.
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Company Secretary

Ms. Wong Nam Marian was appointed as the Company Secretary
in 2008. She is an employee of the Company and is appointed by
the Board. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of

professional training annually to update her skills and knowledge.
Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to ensure on-going dialogue with
shareholders and provide shareholders with information necessary
to evaluate the performance of the Company. The Company
has maintained a website at www.hanny.com which enables
shareholders, investors and the general public to have an open
access to the information of the Company. Shareholders can
obtain full and timely information on the Company’s website and
can assess current and historical company data. The annual and
special general meetings also provide the forum for the Board to
meet directly with shareholders. The procedures for Shareholders
to request the convening of a special general meeting and to
move a resolution at an annual general meeting are set out below.
Shareholders may write to the Board by addressing to the Company
Secretary at the principal office of the Company at 25/F, Paul Y.
Centre, 51 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, who
will forward such communication to the Board; or by sending an
email to enquiry@hanny.com providing their full name and contact

details.
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Corporate Governance Report
EREEHE

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company can
deposit a written request at the principal office of the Company
to require a Special General Meeting (“SGM”) to be called by the
Company. The written request must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the shareholders concerned, and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more of
the requisitionists. An SGM shall be held within 2 months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the
Company fails to proceed to convene an SGM, the requisitionists
may themselves convene a meeting, provided that such meeting
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of the Company or
not less than one hundred members can deposit a written request
at the registered office of the Company to move a resolution at the
next annual general meeting. The written request must state the
notice of intended resolution and any statement of not more than
one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution, signed by the shareholders concerned, and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more of the requisitionists, together with a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto. Provided
that a requisition requiring notice of a resolution is deposited at
the registered office of the Company not less than six weeks before
the meeting, it shall be the duty of the Company to circulate to
members entitled to have notice of the meeting such notice of
intended resolution and any such statement.
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Report of the Directors
EZERE

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present to the
shareholders their report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31

March 2015.
Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in property development and trading, industrial
water supply business, trading of securities and other strategic
investments.

The activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates of the
Company are set out in notes 43 and 19 respectively to the
consolidated financial statements.

Results

Details of the results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 38 to 39.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK1 cent per share
for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: HK2 cents per share)
subject to approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the "AGM"). The proposed final dividend will be
distributed on or about 29 September 2015 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company as at the
close of business on 11 September 2015.
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Report of the Directors
EEZERE

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the property, plant and equipment of the Group during
the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Properties under Development for
Sale

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group
during the year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial

statements.
Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements.
Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Dr. Yap Allan (Chairman)
Mr. Heung Pik Lun, Edmond

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva

Mr. Poon Kwok Hing, Albert

Mr. Sin Chi Fai

In accordance with bye-laws 87(2) and 87(3) of the Company's Bye-
laws, Dr. Yap Allan and Mr. Sin Chi Fai will retire from office by
rotation at the AGM and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

30 Hanny Holdings Limited #58EF 5 R 2 &

M= EEBERRE
AEBMRERZME BERREZFHE
MRRA M BRRM E16 -

TERRPUWE

AEBRFAZHFEERTYEFFERN
A mRME22 -

PR AR

ARTRENZBASDHERRE A
T4 M 529 ©
EF

REAMBERARSHY SE=R:

MITES:
RERBEL (E)
A3 fi S5 £

BYIFMITES:
WERILEE
7 B B 5 A
EEERLE

BARRNA 2~ F#AIE87(12) 87(3)M&
ErEREBETRAESEEE KRR RER
FRAELHRERT MESHEERILE
ERREAFAS EERET-



None of the Directors eligible for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.
Interests of Directors

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
"SFO"))
which (a) were recorded in the register required to be kept under

of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the

Section 352 of the SFO, or (b) were notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

NEEMPBRRBFAG LBEEEEIZE
ERMBEAEETYAKRETAIR—FRA
EATRE CEEBERIN 2BERTRIE
ZRFEH

EEzED

RZZE—RAF=ZA=+—HB BFRARQ
AIREEMAREZE (TERELFRBAE
el (TBHREBEBKO)EXVE) 2K
- HERGO REFFTHESR (@B ZHERIR
e %&Hﬁf1%15”%3521%?!171%@2%&pa
MR RKOREEBHERIMBERA
([P )58 %tm%ﬁﬁu(ftm%ﬁﬁw)
MigE+ (Tt )\%%LTTM%X%E@
ZRESFA) (MBESFR) BEMEAR
BRIz RABIT

% of the

Number of issued share

shares held capital of

Name Capacity (long position) the Company

EARQH

FERGEE BEITRA

" A 56 (FR) Bk

Dr. Yap Allan Beneficial Owner 280,009,882 17.44%
ExREEL EnEEA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors BEFXHRBEEIN R_FBE—HE=A

and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (a) to be recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

=B EEAATEFRESTEA
ERARARRHEAARAE (S8R0
% R IR BI EXVER) 2 IR 15 - SRR
St A () SRR AR IR BB 5 R
ﬁ%%%ﬂ%ﬁ%fZ%ﬁﬁW,iHﬁ
P B A A A B B 2 (A
R AAR -

Annual Report 2014/2015 ## 31




Report of the Directors
EEZERE

Share Option Scheme

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

As at 31 March 2015, the Directors or their respective associates
who had an interest in any business apart from the Group’s
business, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business that need to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Director Name of business Nature of business  Nature of interests

B= E3 5% XBMHE ERME

Dr. Yap Allan Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited trading of securities executive director of Rosedale
("Rosedale”) and its subsidiaries and hotel operations

HEREHEL HBEEERERLAF ([3HE]) BHEEEMAELE MBIZHTES
N EH Y 8 A &)

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of EERNEREN 2R

Significance

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2015, the persons, other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company, who had notified the Company their
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

TERRZER

RZZE-—RAF=R=+—H RELARA
RESFME G E336EMET &L
AR TIAL (REFHARAK
BITBRABNLIN EMEERRRRENA
RERM AR D P HEAERIORE

% of the
Number of issued share
shares held capital of
Name Capacity (Long position) the Company
LER VN
FEROEE EBRITRA
BEERB 56 (FR) Aok
Ong Bee Lian (Note) Beneficial owner/Interest of 144,844,000 9.02%
controlled corporation

Ong Bee Lian (#77) BEanlAAN/ SEARZER

Regent Honour Beneficial owner/Other 144,844,000 9.02%

Investment Limited
Regent Honour EmEAAHAi
Investment Limited

Note:

Ong Bee Lian is a controlling shareholder of Regent Honour Investment
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Company had
not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to
be recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
EEZERE

Major Customers and Suppliers
For the year ended 31 March 2015

(i)  the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 79.1% and 100% respectively of

the Group's total turnover,

(i) the Group's largest supplier and five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 39.0% and 96.8% respectively of

the Group's total purchases.

So far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or shareholders who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest

customers or suppliers of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

During the year ended 31 March 2015, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company’s listed securities.
Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and

within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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Events after the Reporting Period

Details of the significant events after the reporting period are set
out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Group Financial Summary

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 168.

Corporate Governance

Information on Corporate Governance Practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
16 to 28.

Auditor

A resolution will be proposed at the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Yap Allan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF HANNY HOLDINGS LIMITED
BREKREERLT

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hanny
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 167, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2015 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HEBEmRAMEH K%

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

2015 2014
—E-8F —T-mEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B i THER T
Revenue from sales of properties HERFEHEMEWA
held for sale 7 95,000 -
Revenue from water supply business HKFEBE A 7 25,052 26,721
120,052 26,721
Cost of sales 85 & AR (105,269) (13,686)
Gross profit E 7 14,783 13,035
Other income H A dg A 8 4,838 3,768
Other gains and losses, Hph e REE
other income and expenses HE WA K& FEX 9 19,249 (18,776)
Distribution and selling costs 7 88 K & R A (13,535) =
Administrative expenses 1TBUA X (88,606) (82,083)
Finance costs HBER 10 (14,829) (13,123)
Loss on fair value changes on BIEEEHRE 2 ATE
investments held for trading & E B 18 (22,582) (13,479)
Share of results of associates i NI E 14,796 219
Loss before income tax B TS 5% B &5 18 (85,886) (110,439)
Income tax (expense) credit FriS®i () #E R 11 (1,696) 1,855
Loss for the year FREE 12 (87,582) (108,584)
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2015 2014
—E-HF —E—MmF
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FTHERT T
Other comprehensive (expense) income — E {2 (B ) WA
Item that may be reclassified REAEER 7 HE
subsequently to profit or loss: B ZIHA -
Exchange differences arising on ME G INETSFTE £
translation of foreign operations ZIE R =58 (2,464) 2,771
Share of other comprehensive FEAG = A R H Ath
income (expense) of associates ZEBA (AX) 4,775 (5,142)
Fair value change on available- A ERE Y
for-sale investments NEEEH 14,191 (26,179)
Net other comprehensive income FREMEEAYBA (FAX)
(expense) for the year ekl 16,502 (28,550)
Total net comprehensive expense FAEHEALZRFRE
for the year (71,080) (137,134)
Loss for the year attributable to: AT AT R FEAREE :
Owners of the Company KABERA A (75,325) (102,015)
Non-controlling interests FE1E I (12,257) (6,569)
(87,582) (108,584)
Total net comprehensive expense LUTALTEGEEZEAS
attributable to: FERE R
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIE RSN (58,790) (130,638)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 I i (12,290) (6,496)
(71,080) (137,134)
Loss per share FkEE 15 HK$(0.06)3 7T HK$(0.09)7%& 7T
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=g 3 O3

At 31 March 2015 R-ZE—AF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-EF —
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B i THER T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M R REE 16 58,758 70,132
Prepaid lease payments FEREE MR 17 10,532 11,166
Intangible assets mREE 18 21,344 23,501
Interests in associates Bt 2 N Bl 2 19 809,344 215,001
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 20 72,669 66,371
Deposit for acquisition of interest in Wi — a1 & #Em
an investment ZE & 33 - 350,000
Club debentures 2 T E & 6,020 6,020
Deferred tax assets RETRIBE E 30 32 31
978,699 742,222
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepaid lease payments B EE R 17 619 619
Inventories FE 255 252
Properties held for sale FIEHEEWE 21 96,761 96,744
Properties under development for sale FEEREPYE 22 4,280,053 3,271,183
Trade and other receivables and B 5 & E b fE W SRIE K
prepayments TEf IR 23 329,583 386,432
Investments held for trading FEEEKRE 24 111,107 89,185
Short-term loans receivable FEU S EAE 3K 25 35,684 =
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHR MRS 26 149,297 403,183
5,003,359 4,247,598
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and other payables and accruals & 5 & H h & 5 208 &
fEzt &R 27 303,018 131,501
Deposits received in advance FEWET & 32 818,982 190,497
Tax payable FES B IE 16,971 16,907
Borrowings — due within one year BR——FAZH 28 1,039,957 837,846
2,178,928 1,176,751
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,824,431 3,070,847
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2015 2014
—ZE-fF —E—F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Vioka FExT TAIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHAERREBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,803,130 3,813,069
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARKFiE
Share capital &N 29 16,053 11,213
Share premium and reserves AR 10 55 B I fRE 4 2,419,389 2,362,510
Equity attributable to owners of RATER ANEMHER
the Company 2,435,442 2,373,723
Non-controlling interests JEE IR HE = 826,536 859,596
TOTAL EQUITY A 3,261,978 3,233,319
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Borrowings — due after one year BER——F &I 28 535,581 573,489
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEEE 30 5,571 6,261
541,152 579,750
3,803,130 3,813,069

The consolidated financial statements on pages 38 to 167 were e R _ZE—FFB-_t+hLBH#
HERRET B EISE167E 26 W W

R OANRTALTRERRE:

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29

June 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Yap Allan Mr. Heung Pik Lun, Edmond
ExBEL a2 f £ &
CHAIRMAN DIRECTOR

TE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e RREZR BB &

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAREREARL
Currency Capital Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed lati fempti revaluation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
BE REER RYBH HBIRRR BAWMERE REERER Hiphs REEH ait FBERER RELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FAL TET FAL FAL TAL TET TAL FAL TEL FET
(note &) (note b)
(Hita) (Hitb)
At 1 April 2013 R=E-=§MmA-A 1,213 1,587,800 1,008,541 144,808 592 31,938 (315,091) 56,986 2,526,787 868,468 3,395,255
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (102,015) (102,015) (6,569) 108,584)
Other comprehensive income ~ FAEMRERA
(expense) for the year (A%) - - - 2,698 - (26,179) (5,142) - (28,623) 73 (28,550)
Total comprehensive income ~ FRAENA (H%) B8
(expense) for the year - - - 2,698 - (26,179) (5,142) (102,015) (130,638) (6,496) (137,134)
Transfer of contributed surplus ~ EBREHRHE2HER
10 accumulated losses - - (500,000) - - - - 500,000 - - -
Dividend recognised as BRREARZRE
distribution - - - - - - - (22,426) (22,426) - (22,426)
Dividends paid to EREERERRS
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (2.376) (2,376)
At 31 March 2014 i3
=h=t-H 1,213 1,587,800 508,541 147,506 592 5,759 (320,233) 432,545 2,373,723 859,596 3,233,319
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - = = (75,325) (75,325) (12,257) (87,582)
Other comprehensive (expense)  ERE M2 (F30) WA
income for the year - - - 2,431) - 14191 4,775 - 16,535 (33) 16,502
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ FR2 M (B3 ) KAEE
income for the year = = = (2,431) - 14,191 4775 (75,325) (58,790) (12,290) (71,080)
Issue of share BIRA 4,840 149,706 = = = = = = 154,546 = 154,546
Dissolution of a subsidiary BY-AHELR
(note ¢) (Histc) = - - (7.131) - - - - (7,131) (18,000) (25,131)
Dividend recognised as ERRBARLKS
distribution - - - - - - - (26,906) (26,906) - (26,906)
Dividend paid to BREERERRS
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - (2,770) (2,770)
At 31 March 2015
16,053 1,731,506 508,541 137,944 592 19,950 (315,458) 330,314 2,435,442 826,536 3,261,978
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Notes:

(a)

The contributed surplus of the Company at the end of reporting period
represented:

(@)

(if)

(iii)

the credit arising from the transfer of the share premium
account of the Company as at 20 February 1998 and 19
February 2003 to the contributed surplus account of the
Company;

the credit arising from the reduction of the nominal value of the
shares of the Company in 1999, 2003, 2009 and 2011; and

a balance as reduced by amounts transferred to the accumulated
losses to eliminate the deficit of the Group as at 31 January
2000, 31 January 2001, 20 March 2003, 31 March 2005, 28
March 2013 and 31 March 2014.

The other reserves of the Company at the end of reporting period
mainly represented:

(@)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

the difference between the consideration paid for the
acquisition of additional equity interests in Best Smooth
International Limited (“Best Smooth”) and its subsidiaries and
the carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired
amounting to HK$251,561,000 in 2011;

the share of net assets value of an associate transferred from
a non-wholly owned subsidiary to another wholly owned
subsidiary upon transfer of interest in an associate between
subsidiaries in 2011;

the difference between the carrying amount of the 41%
and 8% interests transferred and the consideration received
respectively in relation to the disposal of partial equity interests
in China Good Investments Limited (“China Good”). Details of
these are set out in note 22; and

the share of the currency translation reserve and investment
revaluation reserve of associates.

A non-wholly owned subsidiary, MRI Holdings Limited (“MRI")
dissolved on 28 February 2015. The non-controlling interests released
upon the dissolution. Details are set out in note 31.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEREEREX

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # %= — &

—AF=ZA=1—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-EF —
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss before income tax B P15 56 AT 5 48 (85,886) (110,439)
Adjustments for: M I SEEL 2 AR
Interest income FE WA (4,630) (640)
Dividend income iz B A (72) (189)
Finance costs B8 A 14,829 13,123
Loss on fair value change on RIEEERERQTE
investments held for trading o) ol k= 22,582 13,479
Impairment loss on intangible assets mEEEZREER - 2,960
Impairment loss on property, ER | T YL =
plant and equipment BB E B - 6,158
Impairment loss on interest in —EEE R AR
an associate BB E B - 3,040
Impairment loss on available-for-sale A HIHERE 2 RE
investments E548 7,792 9,603
(Reversal of) impairment loss on H b el I8 2 ORE
other receivables E5 18 B 0] ) (B B 18 (762) 2,149
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HERBAEZ
W& (25,131) (1,278)
Share of results of associates FE(REEE R RIHE (14,796) (219)
Amortisation of intangible assets A B 2,157 2,426
Depreciation of property, M MEREREITE
plant and equipment 11,411 12,365
Release of prepaid lease payments TEREENREE 619 628
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEYIE MR REE
plant and equipment 2 B8 (W) 94 (5)
Derecognition of trade and other RILHERE 5 & AEA
payables FE S RRIE - (20,579)
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2015 2014
—ZE-HF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FH T
Operating cash flows before KRB EES BB 2%
movements in working capital Be&n= (71,793) (67,418)
(Increase) decrease in inventories T8 (8mn)md 3) 302
Increase in properties held for sale FREHE WM (17) (27,606)
Increase in properties under HEERP LM
development for sale (757,804) (593,261)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 K £ th f& W 5138 &
and prepayments T8 15 FRIE 12 0 (213,368) (108,756)
Increase in investments held for trading F{EE &% & 1% N (44,504) (59,835)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 kA A ENKIBR
other payables and accruals FEEtE B ) 171,960 (102,941)
Increase in deposits received in advance & URET & 12 A0 628,722 =
Cash from operations S EREE 2R E (286,807) (959,515)
Income tax (paid) refunded (B BEREMSEM (2,323) 2,901
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXBBRACHRSFHR
ACTIVITIES (289,130) (956,614)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/%A'zﬁﬁs///béi

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

2015 2014
—E-EF —
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B i THER TR
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Refund of deposit for acquisition of REWE -—BIREER
interest in an investment ZEl & 350,000 -
Repayment of short-term loans EERUWEHER
receivable 9,416 20,956
Interest received Wezz 1 8 1,343 642
Dividend received Wzz B B 72 189
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWZE - HERZHEZ
plant and equipment FT 1S 3038 6 70
Acquisition of an associate Wi —fEEE QR (255,000) =
Advance of short-term loans receivable 2 {<f & Uk 58 HA & 3¢ (45,100) (16,540)
Purchase of property, BEWF HEREE
plant and equipment (214) (1,350)
Additional payment for leasehold land A& 4 2 ZE M 50 - (6,200)
Refund of deposit for acquisition of REBWENBARIZF €
subsidiaries - 250,000
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & — KB AR Z
Fri5 518 31 - 11,000
Repayment from associates, net Bt 8N B8 FOF 58 - 86,401
Dividend received from an associate Bk — M E A E R E - 17,286
NET CASH FROM INVESTING REXBEEZ
ACTIVITIES REeFH 60,523 362,454

46 Hanny Holdings Limited #58E%5/F %5 R 2 &



2015 2014
—ZE-fF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T TF&T
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEK
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D 2 BT 15 508 158,640 =
Proceeds from other borrowings Hib &R 2 P53 518 50,052 60,161
Repayments of borrowings BEER (184,221) (27,716)
Dividend paid B AR & (26,906) (22,426)
Interest paid B LA (14,829) (13,123)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BN IR S 2 R R
interests (2,770) (2,376)
Share issue expenses BIIROD 22X (4,094) =
New borrowings raised I ER - 504,870
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING REXK (BR)E4LZ
ACTIVITIES REFEE (24,128) 499,390
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HeERBELEHEEHR
CASH EQUIVALENTS WD FEE (252,735) (94,770)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FzRERBLEE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR =g 403,183 496,651
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE Exggoge
RATE CHANGES (1,151) 1,302
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND R zBRERBRELZE
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank BB RIRITESR R
balances and cash B4 149,297 403,183
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

General

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3 September
1991 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of the
Company is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda and the address of the principal place of business
of the Company is 25th Floor, Paul Y. Centre, 51 Hung To

Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency of the

Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out
in notes 43 and 19 respectively.
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Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs")

The Group has applied, for the first time in the current year,
the following new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a new

interpretation.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment entities
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures
for non-financial assets

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and
continuation of hedge
accounting

HK (IFRIC) — INT 21 Levies

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs and a new
interpretation in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

BRG] R BB
BHEER ([BEUHRE
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RAFE AEEBHERERTIHE
AEAMAS([EEGHMAE])
B Z #rR] MR BB B wE %
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F105% BAMB
WMEERE12% R
BERE GRS
F27% (BFIAR)

EREGERENN BETKEER
(BT AR) Bisas

BEEGERE36H FPBKEEZA
(BT AR) WEeleEEE

ERGERFE3H TETACTFH
(BT AR) RE R 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRE R R A At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

2. Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial instruments’

Regulatory deferral accounts?

Revenue from contracts with
customers’

Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations®

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer plants®

Defined benefit plans: Employee
contributions?

Equity method in separate
financial statements®

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its

associate or joint venture?®

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
2010 — 2012 cycle®
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BB ERE 165 BBENEREH
REBGTER ZABR TR
£385% (BFIA)
ERGHERE 16T BREEEM
REBGTER ‘e
EVALACEHFS)
BB ERE195 TEEMTE:
(BRI R) & 8 %
BEEGTENE27H BUFBEREZ
(BRI R) %
EEMBRELL HEFHHEEZ
FIORRBEAEHT DRALAED
AR 5E285% XM EBEN
(BRI R) S ES
EEMBHREEN —T-TFZE
(BRI R) —E—=F
BB BT %
WEER
FRE ke



Application of New and Revised 2. BERANE] RIS E] 2 BB A
Hong Kong Financial Reporting BREEA ([FBMBME
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued) A1) (&)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective BB 1B 18 R A B2 Rl RAEHEET
(Continued) BBV ERELER (&)
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs EAVBHREEN —T——F%F
2011 — 2013 cycle? (BT &) —T-=F
BB BN
HEEAZ
F Z
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs BEMBHREEN —T-_FZF
2012 - 2014 cycle S-HEN) —E-mF
BHE BT
WmEERZ
F 2 S
Amendment to HKAS 1 Disclosure initiative® ERGHEREIR RBEFES
(BT &)
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment entities: Applying BATBmEER KREER - EA
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 the consolidation exception® F105 -BEME  HKEAKRZ
BELENZ12% K FIIMER
BB TR
F285% (151 4)
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January ! R=ZF-—NF—A—Hz2&HE®
2018, with earlier application permitted. ZEEHBER  WAIRTER -
2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning 2 BERRZZE—R"F—HA—B=zi’
on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted. Rie 2B BBV BRELENFE
Mgk WAliR R EA -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 RZE—+tF—H—Hzkz%&MHA
2017, with earlier application permitted. ZEEHBRER  WAREER -
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, 4 RZZE—MOFEtA—BHz&R%A
with earlier application permitted. ZEEHBAER WA IREER-
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 5 RZZE—A"F—A—Hlz&R®A
2016, with earlier application permitted. ZEEHRES - WARFEER -
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, g R-ZE—mFLtA—H 2 &ERA
with limited exceptions. Earlier application is permitted. ZEEARER - B RHIINMER
BRoN AR R REF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

2. Application of New and Revised 2.

Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
the requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further
amended in 2013 to include the new requirements for
hedge accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements
for financial assets and b) limited amendments to the
classification and measurement requirements by introducing a
‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI")
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

° All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are
held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved both
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the financial
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured
at their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in
the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Application of New and Revised 2. BRI REBT BB
Hong Kong Financial Reporting BREEA ([FBMBME
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued) A1) (&)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued) BEMBRELERFORMIFTE

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS
9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value of financial liabilities attributable to changes in
the financial liabilities” credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire
amount of the change in the fair value of the financial
liability designated as fair value through profit or loss was
presented in profit or loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.

(%)
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s NMBEEREMS BERER
BEHEREIRREELEE
EEREEAGERR  BEMG
BELRNFIRBERBHREE
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BYRERARZES - HBF
2 BEBGFELEEENTE
REEERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRE R R A At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

2. Application of New and Revised 2.

Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

° The new general hedge accounting requirements
retain the three types of hedge accounting. However,
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of
transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically
broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components
of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge
accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has
been overhauled and replaced with the principle of
an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment
of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk
management activities have also been introduced.

Amendments to HKAS 27 “Equity method in separate financial

statements”

The amendments allow an entity to account for investments
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in its separate

financial statements

o At cost

3 In accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”
(or HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and

measurement” for entities that have not yet adopted
HKFRS 9), or

3 Using the equity method as described in HKAS 28
“Investments in associates and joint ventures”.
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Application of New and Revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 27 “Equity method in separate financial

statements” (Continued)

The accounting option must be applied by category of
investments.

The amendments also clarify that when a parent ceases to be
an investment entity, or becomes an investment entity, it shall
account for the change from the date when the change in
status occurred.

In addition to the amendments to HKAS 27, there are
consequential amendments to HKAS 28 to avoid a potential
conflict with HKFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements”
and to HKFRS 1 “First-time adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards”.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of these amendments to HKAS 27 will have
a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

The directors anticipate the application of the other new
and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

3.

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the

fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value
in use in HKAS 36.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:
o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities
of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date
when control is lost, (ii) derecognises the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost (including any components of
other comprehensive income attributable to them), and (iii)
recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with
any resulting difference being recognise as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets of the
subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values and
the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings
as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement” or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # %= — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but

is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transaction and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investments in associates are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associates. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which

the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

3. Significant Accounting Policies 3.

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of

business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from water supply operations is recognised when
goods are delivered; revenue from sale of properties is
recognised when the properties are delivered to the buyers, at
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

3 the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and installments received from purchasers on sale of
properties prior to this stage are included in current liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be

measured reliably).
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,

if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

EREETBER (&)

WARER (&)

KETBEEZHEWA - REHEF
BHEAGERARNEERKRA SR
SEHET B T LARER o A B AR K
REEARKEE 2 ASBERIERZ
ERMEFAE ARANEARMBEE
BE 2 fh 5T RI PR 4F B ) R DA R B3 4
ARKRSWAMBEZEERER
AR ZREFEIN X

KEHRE 2B EWAR IR A U
PR MR (AT A E A 2 A Al #E
MAREBE R A BRI SE AT

WME BERRE BEFERLE
KBS SRS AR S (R T TR i
ZEBF ERARERRAFERR
AORERE (A ) ELR S B RN
RANFR

MR HBELREBEE 2T ERER
RIFEMAE AT B EH - RE AW
HERARF R EETE - At HF
B RREERFTESEINE —E
BRI R A2 R EKE
FRRZEEARR-

Annual Report 2014/2015 #3# 63




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is included in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
Leasehold land and building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments”
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is

amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or

loss for the period.

SETBE (&)

HE (&)
HELHREF (E)

fiii 5 HHE N FRBE A 3 D Fe - RIARR
e EHEZHET RSN
HAEMBIRRKRES A BNEEN
R W ABERERARENEE-

o118

REREZEREEEE M BRE
B AZERBINEEB AN B
(INE)ETZ R D HERR 5 A H
ERBRE AR EY (ZEE
KEFMEZEERERB 2ER) -
REFREAKR - NS EBE 2 ERIER
DEZAZEREFHE - RAFE
ABRRUASNE EE 2 FEEBIEE HiR
ATEETERAZEXEHRE &
SNSRI EZIEEBIEE BA
BimE-

REENEFHREERHRAREL L
ELEZEENEEL ZHERNBaE
R-BEMBERERRAMELZIE
REREAFEFAHB ZES-

Annual Report 2014/2015 #3# 65




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of currency translation reserve

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation or an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition,
in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to

profit or loss.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in equity under the heading

of currency translation reserve.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them

to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before income tax
as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR e B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Club debentures

Club debentures are measured at cost less any impairment

losses.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is

regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment

losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase and other
direct cost to acquire the properties. Net realisable value is
calculated at the actual or estimated selling price less related
costs necessary to the sale.

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development which are developed for future
sale in ordinary course of business are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises land and related
development costs directly attributable to the properties under
development for sale. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to professional valuations based on prevailing market
conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and cost
necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=HA=+—HI FEF

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale
financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents
financial assets held for trading.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near future; or

o on initial recognition, it is a part of an identified portfolio
of financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR e B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from
measurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial

assets.
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, short-
term loans receivable and bank balances and cash) are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on

impairment of financial assets below).
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-

maturity investments.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets and are traded in an active
market are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in the carrying amount of available-for-
sale monetary financial assets relating to interest income
calculated using the effective interest method and dividends
on available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit
or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of available-
for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy in

respect of impairment of financial assets below).

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive
the dividends is established.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
guoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets

below).
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit
or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade and
other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of one to two months, observable changes in national
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on

receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original

effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will

not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, accumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in

the period in which the impairment takes place.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment

not been recognised.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to

the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
of obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance
with HKAS 37 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance

with the revenue recognition policy.
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises
an associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

SETBE (&)

MBITA (&)
HEEREX (F)

NS BT IR E IR A EIBR
Wit ABs 2 MBERELD  RER
MR B A E D P EIR 1T B E R
BREREEZRIAARIE -RE
REERR  NEBUATIRSESE
MBEREH: VREFB G EL
37 [ #ifh  HRBERIREE
BEZANEESRE  RiVREKA
ERBREXERZEBRE (1@
R)EHERZRH#E-

U R

BEWMEEREREZANENE
w A EEC R ﬁ$EIE
BREZREERARIBARLD
RE#HRT S Bk A%ZJHEH ﬁ
AV EE - ﬁ$$llﬂﬁ“ﬁﬂ
REB TR HE 2 B R EL ) B Fa e [0 g -
WHBEHNCDBREEE A&Fﬁ
HECHERREENRERERER
BEo-MAKBERECERMBEER
BRZBARDRR N EW®R &S
ERZMBEE LM WHAFHIA
HERBEMER

Annual Report 2014/2015 #3# 81




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or

loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an

impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

4.

Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.
Estimated impairment of intangible assets

Determining whether intangible assets are impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which intangible assets have been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. The management
performed an impairment assessment on intangible assets
and for intangible assets for the year ended 31 March 2014
impairment loss of HK$2,960,000 (2015: nil) was recognised.
As at 31 March 2015, the carrying amount of intangible assets
was HK$21,344,000 (2014: HK$23,501,000).
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Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and

prepaid lease payments

Determining whether property, plant and equipment and
prepaid lease payments are impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. The management performed an impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments and impairment loss of HK$6,158,000 (2015:
nil) was recognised for property, plant and equipment for the
year ended 31 March 2014. As at 31 March 2015, the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments were HK$58,758,000 and HK$11,151,000,
respectively (2014: HK$70,132,000 and HK$11,785,000,
respectively).

Estimated write down on properties under development for

sale and properties held for sale

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of the
Group’s properties under development for sale and properties
held for sale with reference to the current market environment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
If the net realisable value on properties under development
for sale is less than expected as a result of change in market
environment and/or significant variation in the budgeted
development cost, material write-down may be resulted. As at
31 March 2015, the aggregate carrying amount of properties
under development for sale and properties held for sale was
approximately HK$4,376,814,000 (2014: HK$3,367,927,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

4.

Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of available-for-sale investments

Determining whether the unlisted securities classified as
available-for-sale investments are impaired requires an
estimation of the carrying amount of the unlisted securities.
The impairment of unlisted securities classified as available-
for-sale investments as at 31 March 2015 was approximately
HK$7,792,000 (2014: HK$9,603,000) in relation to unlisted
securities during the year. The carrying amount of the
available-for-sale investments may be adjusted to reflect
the revised estimated cash flows when the Group reviews

recoverable amount of the available-for-sale investments.
Estimated impairment of interests in associates

Determining whether interests in associates are impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amounts of the
associates. The recoverable amounts of the associates were
determined based on value in use calculations, with reference
to the estimated cash flows in the coming five years and
cash flows beyond five years are extrapolated by applying
corresponding suitable growth rates of the associates.
Impairment loss of HK$3,040,000 (2015: nil) was recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2014.

Impairment loss on short-term loans receivable

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of the short-
term loans receivable. Appropriate impairment for estimated
irrecoverable amount is recognised in profit and loss when
there is objective evidence that the amount is not recoverable.
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4. Key Sources of Estimation

Uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment loss on short-term loans receivable (Continued)

In determining whether allowance for bad and doubtful debts
is required, the Group takes into consideration the aged status
and likelihood of collection. Specific allowance is only made
for the loans receivable that is unlikely to be collected and is
recognised on the difference between the carrying amount
of loans receivable and the present value of estimated future
cash flow discounted using the original effective interest rate.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. No impairment was made
for the year ended 31 March 2015.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, retained profits/accumulated losses and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues, new borrowings raised and

repayment of borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #HZ - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

6. Financial Instruments 6. MBTH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) MBIAER
2015 2014
—E-REF — P4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TABIT
Financial assets MBEE
Fair value through profit or loss L FAEZ) BRI G A 1B 2
— Investments held for trading —BHEEBERE 111,107 89,185
Available-for-sale financial assets A (35 & B 7 & = 72,669 66,371
Loans and receivables E SR E W
— Trade and other receivables —E\%&E@Eg%%’){lﬁ 2,235 3,131
— Short-term loans receivable — e BAE X 35,684 =
— Bank balances and cash —IRITERNIRS 149,297 403,183
187,216 406,314
Total et 370,992 561,870
Financial liabilities at BRBERRIRZHEEE
amortised cost
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E A FRIB 283,179 113,770
Borrowings 1% K 1,575,538 1,411,335
1,858,717 1,525,105
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. MBKITH (A

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEAFSEBREREBFERBE
The Group’s major financial instruments are set out in AEBEZEEZERBHBITAHIIRN
note 6(a) above and details of these financial instruments EXHzEe(a) S BIT A
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated BN SM R - T X &7 H
with these financial instruments and the policies on ZEMBITARR B KR
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The BZERR s BER BEEEER
management manages and monitors these exposures I BE I 2 R B - DARR R R B AT
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a BRHEREUE & 2 55 ©

timely and effective manner.

(i)  Credit risk () 1EEER

As at 31 March 2015, the Group's maximum R-ZEBE—RHE=ZA=+—

exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial H AEBEHFH R

loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an BITEAERAEEREHY

obligation by the counterparties and the financial BERMSIBMBELZ
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from: BEAEERRRE :

e the carrying amount of the respective s KMEMBARAKRH
recognised financial assets as stated in the BEHOHRRMGEE
consolidated statement of financial position; ZEREE: &
and

e the amount of contingent liabilities in relation o [NE3SAEEABAR
to financial guarantee issued by the Group as SEMEHMBER
disclosed in note 35. ZEARBERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(1)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks and with good reputation.

In addition, the credit risk on corporate guarantee
given to banks in respect of bank loans granted
to the Group’s associate is limited because the
management will regularly review their financial
performance and reconsider the continuance of the

given guarantee regularly.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i) Market risk

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk primarily relate to variable-rate short-
term loans receivable, bank balances, variable-
rate borrowings as set out in notes 25, 26 and
28 respectively.

The Group maintains variable rate borrowings.
The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, management
monitor interest rate change exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offer Rate, the
prime lending rate arising from the Group’s
Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings
and People’s Bank of China benchmark
lending rate arising from the Group’'s RMB
denominated borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #HZ - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. I HR (&

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) IBREEREIREBZEREEK
(Continued) (#&)
(i) Market risk (Continued) (i) mEEE (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) ()  FIEmEE (&)
Sensitivity analysis BREDT
Regarding the cash flow interest rate risk, IR E = F =R
the sensitivity analysis below have been mE - TXZHBRE
determined based on the exposure to interest DT TIARIB R B A
rates for non-derivative instruments at the RFFEE 2 3E0TET
end of the reporting period. For variable-rate B @ f ifn € °
short-term loans receivable and variable-rate HEBOZE B REIER
borrowings, the analysis is prepared assuming EEREBRME &%
the amount of the relevant asset and liability DT TR AR PR R R R
outstanding at the end of the reporting period AZIEMEEERAKE
was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 BEEESBANER
basis point increase or decrease represents FEAGEAEKREER
management’s assessment of the reasonably i 1 1 o 38 hn gOm 4
possible change in interest rates. SOEEMRKRERE
HNER7EBELE
FEL 2 A o

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2014: 50 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended
31 March 2015 would increase/decrease by
HK$5,946,000 (2014: HK$5,362,000).
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. MBKITH (A

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEAFSEBREREBFERBE
(Continued) (&)
(i) Market risk (Continued) () mHEE (&)
(i) Price risk on listed securities under available- (i) FIHREERERIFIE

for-sale investments and investments held for BEERETZ FHE
trading F 1B 15 /7 B
The Group is primarily exposed to equity REEFERFAT
price risk through its investments in listed HIHERERIFER
equity securities included in available-for-sale ERE 2 ETRAE
investments and investments held for trading. HFZIREBMERAE

The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price risk
is mainly concentrated on equity instruments
quoted in the Stock Exchange.

RER - B IEE S B
HERTRERKREZ
MEEEZAR K
KB BABERER
EBERPRER A
WEZBRATR-

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analyses below have been T Z2HREDTY

determined based on the exposure to equity BREBEREBRA BT A

price risks of listed securities included in A HIHEIRE RIFE

available-for-sale investments and investments BEERECZLETMHES

held for trading at the reporting date. H ¥ 2 AR B R b2
EBE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. I HR (&

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMBREREREBFERBEE
(Continued) (&
(i) Market risk (Continued) (i) MG ERE (&)

(i) Price risk on listed securities under available- (i) FIHREERERIFIE
for-sale investments and investments held for BEERETZ FHE
trading (Continued) FIEEREE (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREDN (E
If the share prices of the respective equity MEBEAREAKRE Z
investments had been 20% (2014: 20%) % 18 F F T %
higher/lower and all other variables were held 20% (= — 4
constant, the Group's: 20% )+ M T B HAth

&2 :

e loss for the year would decrease/ e FAEBEH
increase by HK$22,221,000 (2014: BIEEEKRE
HK$17,837,000) as a result of the ZRFEZH
changes in fair value of investments held i s 2 1 0
for trading; and 22,221,000/8

T(ZF— M@
% 17,837,000
BIL) Rk

e investment revaluation reserve would e REEHMGERE
increase/decrease by HK$5,508,000 1 B Ay g S
(2014: HK$2,670,000) as a result of the KEZRFE
changes in fair value of available-for-sale BB Mg,
investments. A 45,508,000

BT (ZZT—r
£ :2,670,000
HBIT) °
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ifi) ~ Currency risk

(iv)

The functional currency of the Company and its
major subsidiaries in Hong Kong is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") in which most of the transactions
are denominated. The functional currency of those
subsidiaries operating in PRC is Renminbi (“RMB")
in which most of its transactions are denominated.

The Group has foreign currency balances which
expose the Group to foreign currency risks,
however, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the foreign currency risk is not significant
as the amount of foreign currency balances is not
material and therefore, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
the borrowings and ensures compliance with loan

covenants.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of reporting period.

96 Hanny Holdings Limited #5825 E &R 2 7]

—AF=ZA=1—HIFE

6.

BT E(

(b)

7T75<

(%

(iv)

z)

b

REEBERBR

Vi) ﬁf” (ﬁ:)
T&RETAREEIELTE B
BEBEZH T H
HeT&RINDEKEBERAEE
ARERERZHZT R
Hﬁ'&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzfﬁﬁﬁfﬁ
Iﬁvﬁ/}lbi%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁx—

ms 'ﬁéﬁigijﬂﬁﬁﬂx
XZHRITERGFAKT
EXHE mARRTE
BITHEHEENZ ATt -
HMETEMBa Gz 5
HBERBEZERBER
wE - TRBEFEME KR
ﬁziﬁiﬁm; fied K1 27
BRI BT E  BIA B
HRZANERAERERS
B o



6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. BB IR (&

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIF5REBREE B IERBUR
(Continued) (%)
(iv)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) REEzRER (&
Liquidity tables BB &
Contractual Less than
weighted 3 months 3 months Total Carrying
average or to 1-5 Over undiscounted amount at
interest rate  on demand 1year years Syears  cash flows 31.3.2015
R=%-1%
GAME  HR=EA AHEEE ZA=t-8

TERE  ARERE =ZERE-E -ERf Bang REER ZEEE
% HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR T TR T

2015 “3-1f

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ 474 EHRE
Trade and other payables EHREMERHE - 283,179 - - - 283,179 283,179
Borrowings &3 7.03 108,884 997,705 534,885 57,758 1,699,232 1,575,538
Financial guarantee contracts HBEREH - 33973 - - - 33973 -
426,036 997,705 534,885 57758 2016384 1,858,717

Contractual Less than
weighted 3 months 3 months Total Carrying
average or to 1-5 Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate ~on demand 1 year years 5 years cash flows 31.3.2014
RZE-MF
aOME SRR #ERRE =ZA=T-H
THHE  GRELE ZHEAE-F —Enf BBRE hEGE ZEEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAL TET TEL TET TEL
2014 —5-|E

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ #f7=HEAE
Trade and other payables BAREMENE - 113,770 - - - 113,770 113,770
Borrowings &3 71.36 121,033 805,400 537,705 168,172 1,632,310 1,411,335
Financial quarantee contracts HEERAY - 38,436 - - = 38,436 =

213,239 805,400 537,705 168,172 1,784,516 1,525,105
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “less than 3 months or on
demand” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014, the
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$26,495,000 and HK$31,287,000 respectively.
Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights
to demand immediate repayment. The directors
believe that such bank loans will be repaid within
3 months of amount HK$2,338,000 (2014:
HK$2,650,000), after 3 months but within 1 year of
amount HK$1,828,000 (2014: HK$4,366,000), after
1 year but within 5 years of amount HK$9,751,000
(2014: HK$10,029,000) and after 5 years of
HK$17,029,000 (2014: HK$19,499,000) after the
reporting date in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

The undiscounted cash flows on financial guarantee
contracts have been categorised into time bands
based on the earliest date the bank borrowings
obtained by an associate are due for repayment in
accordance with loan repayment schedule agreed
with respective lenders.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are

guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial
liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest

rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRE R R AR At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6.

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(1) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The directors consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.
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6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. BB IR (&

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (00 MBIAZRAYEE (&)
(Continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are (i) AR E [ EE w2 FlEA
measured at fair value on a recurring basis BIZAEFYBFEELRF
/=]
Some of the Group's financial assets are measured AEEBIMBEERS
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. ABBARZAFEFE-
The following table gives information about TREAEEZENHE
how that fair values of these financial assets are EXNFEZHE(LER
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) FT A 2 (5 1E 7 = & A ER
and inputs used). B) -
Fair value
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy Valuation technique
HEEE RTFREZATE AYERR  EEAE
31.03. 2015 31.03.2014
—B-1f —F-mE
=A=t-8 ZA=t-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
1) Fair value through profit or loss 111,107 89,185 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
- Investments held for trading active market
1) BRATESRILE ABE EF—H R—EERMISHHRZ
-FEEERE EAE
2) Available-for-sale investments 27,540 13,349 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
active market
2) ARHEERE F—H R—EERTSHA®R
EAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #HZ - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

6. Financial Instruments (Continued) 6. I HR (&

(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (0 HMBIAZATEFE (&)
(Continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are (ii) KA F 1B EZ L FlEE
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued) B A EEFHYBEEERNF
B (#%&)
The Group’s financial assets that are measured at RREEERN EAFE
fair value are classified as level 1 on the fair value AERAREMBEER
hierarchy for both years. NREFESERPHEASE —
There is no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the RAEE F—FH - F=-FK
current year. NE=H BT EEE -
7. Segment Information 7. 2EER
Information reported to the chief operating decision maker MEBESPIE D ERFGRTES
(i.e. the executive directors) for the purposes of resource ERARE (M ITES)ER2ER
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on TESHCDREMEERS RS 2EE -

the types of goods or services provided.

Segment revenue and results DEBARFEE
The Group's reportable and operating segment are as follows: REBZA 2R EKEESEINT
Trading of securities - Trading of investments held BHEB = BEBERFE
for trading EERE
Property development — — Development and sale of MEBRREFEE — MHEER K
and trading properties SHE
Water supply - Provision of water supply K = FE oK

AR%
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Segment Information (Continued) 7. Z8EM™ (&)

Segment revenue and results (Continued) DRI ARELSE (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results RAZ2MRKEDEHE D 2 AN EE I
by reportable and operating segment. ARFEBEZDTWT -
Property
Trading of development Water
securities  and trading supply Consolidated
NELR
RHEE REE itk g

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR TERT TR TERT

For the year ended 31 March 2015 HE-Z-HF=A=t-H
LEE

REVENUE KA

Segment revenue PERA - 95,000 25,052 120,052
SEGMENT (LOSS) PROFIT 28 (B8)&F (22,510) (26,024) 5,568 (42,966)
Interest income WA 4,630
Unallocated corporate income AAEEEKRA 845
Unallocated corporate expenses AAMEES T (65,701)
Finance costs (note) HBER (fi2) (14,829)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments ~ AIEHERE ZREEE (7,792)
Gain on dissolution of a subsidiary R —HMB ARz e 25,131
Share of results of associates NG ES 14,796
Loss before income tax B SR B R (85,886)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=H=+—HIFFEZE
7. Segment Information (Continued) 7. ZREMN (&

Segment revenue and results (Continued) DRI ARELE (&)

Property
Trading of ~ development Water
securities  and trading supply  Consolidated
NEER
EHEE RER ik Ra
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT TAT TAT
For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-NE=RA=1+—H
I35
REVENUE WA
Segment revenue DEWRA - - 26,721 26,721
SEGMENT (LOSS) PROFIT 28 (B8) &R (13,290) (36,749) 8,017 (42,022)
Interest income FEWA 640
Unallocated corporate income IR ERA 3,027
Unallocated corporate expenses APEEESH (38,697)
Finance costs (note) MKBR (Hit) (13,123)
Impairment loss on property, NE BRRFZEAEER
plant and equipment (note) (Hiit) (6,158)
Impairment loss on intangible assets (note) B EERBER (H:7) (2,960)
Impairment loss on interest in an associate (note)  —FIEEA A B ER 2 HERSE
(Hit) (3,040)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments ~ AIEHERE ZREEE (9,603)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRBARzYE 1,278
Share of results of associates RN A XA 219
Loss before income tax BREHABE (110,439)
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7. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Note: The Group allocated the goodwill, certain property, plant and
equipment, prepaid lease payments, intangible assets and
certain borrowings to the segment assets and liabilities without
allocating the impairment loss on goodwill, property, plant
and equipment, prepaid lease payments, intangible assets,
impairment loss on interest in an associate and finance costs to
segment result as the chief operating decision maker did not
take into account of the impairment of such assets and finance

costs in the measurement of segment result.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment (loss) profit represents (loss) profit incurred by each
segment without allocation of interest income, unallocated
corporate income, unallocated corporate expenses, finance
costs, impairment loss on property, plant and equipment,
impairment loss on intangible assets, impairment loss on
interest in an associate, impairment loss on available-for-sale
investments, gain on dissolution/disposal of a subsidiary and
share of results of associates. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision maker (i.e. executive directors) for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

DBWAREE (&)

Wiat: AEEEEE ATWE #ER
BE BENHEENR BEREE
ETEIIEESHEERSA
B M EAS s Y KR
R ENHENR BRFEES
BZREREE —H#EA T’fié/‘—’\
ZREBBRVBERIEEZSD
HEE RAREER @B&ﬂi%ﬁ’\‘
FTESEEER WEAREHE
EZRERVBER-

RENB 2 IR B E3MRA
KEZEABERMER - 288 (BER) i
%'J?E%%*Eﬁﬁﬁ_’{z (B8 ) RA - I
EDENEBRA  ROELERA
ﬁ% DECEEH  MEER WE - #
BRNERERERER  BLEEZR
BEER —HEEQRES ZRERS
B AHEEREZRERE B
SHE — R A R 2 Woas K e A Bt
ERAIRE MR ERDE R DB
RAFARAETRLERKE (BT
Ex)2HzHESN-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

7. Segment Information (Continued) 7. ZREMN (&

Segment assets and liabilities NEEERARE

Property
Trading of development

securities  and trading

Water

supply Consolidated

MERRE
BAEE REE itk =4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
At 31 March 2015 REZE—HBF=H=1—H
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PHREE 113,100 4,784,569 128,841 5,026,510
Interests in associates 2N AR 809,344
Available-for-sale investments HREERE 72,669
Short-term loans receivable EREBHER 35,684
Bank balances and cash ROERERE 171
Other unallocated assets Hit KRR EE 37,680
Consolidated assets DREE 5,982,058
LIABILITIES 8
Segment liabilities PEEE 87,714 2,212,419 4,555 2,304,688
Borrowings fE 5k 379,446
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBEEE 5,571
Other unallocated liabilities HieXDREAE 30,375
Consolidated liabilities DEERE 2,720,080
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7. Segment Information (Continued) 7. ZEEMN (&)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEEERAE (&)
Property
Trading of  development Water
securities  and trading supply  Consolidated
NEER
EFEE REE oK we

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT ThAT TAT

At 31 March 2014 R-E-AF=F=1—H

ASSETS BE

Segment assets NEEE 91,130 3,714,924 137,741 3,943,795
Interests in associates BE N AR 215,001
Available-for-sale investments HEERE 66,371
Deposit for acquisition of interest in an investment WE—BRERR 271 ¢ 350,000
Bank balances and cash ROERERE 359,393
Other unallocated assets Hp kA REE 55,260
Consolidated assets DREE 4,989,820
LIABILITIES 8%

Segment liabilities PEAE 109,186 1,519,309 4618 1,633,113
Borrowings B 96,715
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE 6,261
Other unallocated liabilities HioxpEERE 20,412
Consolidated liabilities REERE 1,756,501
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BRE R R AR At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

7. Segment Information (Continued) 7.

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° assets are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than certain property, plant and
equipment, interests in associates, available-for-sale
investments, deposit for acquisition of interest in an
investment, short-term loans receivable, club debentures,
deferred tax assets, certain other receivables and
prepayments, certain bank balances and cash and tax

recoverable; and

o liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than unallocated other payables and
accruals, certain borrowings, tax payable and deferred
tax liabilities.
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Segment Information (Continued) 7. ZEEMN (&)

Other segment information H Aty 5 2 E #
Property
Trading of development Water
securities  and trading supply Unallocated Consolidated
VES
EHEE REE fik AOE ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BE-_F-—hF=H=1—H
IR

Amounts included in the measure of ~ FE5% (F#E) 2F kA EEE

segment (loss) profit and segment et AZ &8

assets
Additions to property, plant and REME BRREE

equipment - 87 - 127 214
Release of prepaid lease payments BREERNRER - - 619 - 619
Amortisation of intangible assets B AERY - - 2,157 - 2,157
Loss on fair value changes on REBEREZATEEZDER

investments held for trading 22,582 - - - 22,582
Depreciation ne - 1,818 5,328 4,265 11,411
Dividend income R EHA 72 - - - 72
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=H=+—HIFFEZE

7. Segment Information (Continued) 7. ZREMN (&

Other segment information (Continued) HiwnsaER (&)
Property
Trading of  development Water
securities  and trading supply  Unallocated  Consolidated
NEER
EREE S ik AAR wa

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THT TR THAT

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE2-_F-—HF=H=1—H
IFE

Amounts included in the measure of ~ itEH%E (BE) BARDEEE
segment (loss) profit and segment et AZ &8

assets
Additions to property, plant and REME KERE

equipment - 332 - 1,018 1,350
Release of prepaid lease payments BREERNRER - - 628 - 628
Amortisation of intangible assets BN AERY - - 2,426 - 2,426
Loss on fair value changes on RIEBEEREZATEEZDER

investments held for trading 13,479 - - - 13,479
Depreciation & - 1,645 5,487 5233 12,365
Dividend income BREHA 189 - - - 189
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Segment Information (Continued)
Geographical Information

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the
location of the property for property development and trading
segment and the location of customers for other segments,
and information about its non-current assets by geographical

location of the assets are detailed below:

7. DRER (&)
oA R
ROERRREE SRR LR
REEMHBIREF DB DA E

BRAMBEP A ARIZEE
PREmEI D ZIERBEEFLANT -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REMBEF ZWA FRBDEE
2015 2014 2015 2014

~®-Ef —T-EF -B-IFf T OF
HKS'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TART TAL TAR TAL

Hong Kong BB - = 826,177 587,210
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC")  HEARZLME ([HE]) 120,052 26,721 79,821 88,610
120,052 26,721 905,998 675,820

Note: Non-current assets excluded available-for-sale investments and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 March 2015, there were two customers
(2014: two customers) who are independent third parties
to the Group and accounted for over 10% of total revenue
with revenue of HK$95,000,000 and HK$18,599,000 (2014:
HK$20,422,000 and HK$6,197,000) related to property
development and trading segment and water supply segment

respectively (2014: water supply segment).

Wit FERBEETERARKEERE
FIEER AR E

BERIBEFPZEH

REBEE-_Z—RHAF=—A=+—HItF
B MEERREZIDERBKSE
(ZZE—HmF - #HkoR)MmE (ZF
—NF - MB)BAEEBEIE=
ZERERBRABI0% BREKAD
711/95,000,0007% 7T % 18,599,000/8
7T (ZZF — P 4F :20,422,0005 7T &
6,197,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=H=+—HIFFEZE

8. Other Income 8. Hfthg A
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T T
Interest income on THFIBE 25 B A

— Interest on bank deposits —RITIF A B 959 526

— Interest on short-term loans — B EE XA A
receivable 3,671 114
4,630 640
Management fee income BEEBUA 100 1,823
Dividend income & B A 72 189
VAT refund HEE TR - 1,097
Others HAfty 36 19
4,838 3,768
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Other Gains and Losses, Other 9. Hinlm kB HtblA
Income and Expenses KB
2015 2014
—E-FHEF —ZE—O4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT T
Other gains and losses Et iz RE#AE
Derecognition of trade and RILERE 5 R H it B
other payables (note) IR (Ht ) - 20,579
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, HEWE HERZHEZ
plant and equipment (E1E) W (94) 5
Gain on dissolution/disposal of e HE—ERBARZ
a subsidiary g 25,131 1,278
Amount paid on termination of a BLAR IE— 1918 B B 1 %
project consultancy agreement Frft & 88 - (12,615)
Others Hit 1,242 (4,113)
26,279 5,134
Other income and expenses Bk AR R~
Impairment loss on property, Yz e KRB 2 RE
plant and equipment (note 16) Ea (Kiat1e) - (6,158)
Impairment loss on intangible assets mVEEZRERBR
(note 18) (Hiat18) - (2,960)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AIHHERE 2 REERE
investments (note 20) (Ktit20) (7,792) (9,603)
Impairment loss on interest in an — A & A Rl 2 BE
associate (note 19) B (Hat19) - (3,040)
Reversal of (impairment loss) on E A FE W R IE 2 BB
other receivables BEER ORERBRE) 762 (2,149)
(7,030) (23,910)
19,249 (18,776)
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BRE R R AR At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

9. Other Gains and Losses,

Other 9.

Income and Expenses (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group derecognised

certain trade and other payables as the corresponding

companies have been dissolved. In the opinion of the directors,

the Group has no further obligations in respect of the trade and

other payables concerned.

Hitt s R EE -

KB (#4&)

Hip g A

Mt RBE_ZT-—NF=A=+—H
R AEBERERA FFRM
RIFERETES MEMEN K
H-BERR AKERBHEES
REMENRBESEE-TAE-

10.Finance Costs 10. B % & H
2015 2014
—E-1F —T-lF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Interest on bank and other borrowings IRITREAMERZFE

— wholly repayable within five years — AR AFANBHEE 14,829 13,123
— not wholly repayable within five years —PNERAFANBHEER 93,259 83,334
108,088 96,457

Less: amounts capitalised in properties RN FEERPYER
under development for sale EARbLz &5 (93,259) (83,334)
14,829 13,123

Borrowing cost capitalised during the year arose from specific

borrowing.
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11.Income Tax Expense (Credit) 1. et d (%)

2015 2014
—E2-iF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Income tax expense (credit) comprises: FriSBi it (EE) B :
Current tax: BVHA T 18 -
— PRC profits tax — R B FIE 2,387 2,920
Deferred tax credit REMIER R
— current tax (note 30) —BIEARIIE (Af230) (691) (4,775)
1,696 (1,855)
No estimated assessable profit of Hong Kong Profits Tax for MBS E B E BTGB b T BARN
both years. i Al o
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BEPBECERGSHE ([RERR
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax JIRE]) REEMEBEZEHEIK
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Bl MEFEE 2R EMBARRER

25% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

11.Income Tax Expense (Credit) 1. FEHiH (BR) (&
(Continued)
The income tax expense (credit) for the year can be reconciled FAMEHL (ER)BESER
to the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement MEAM2E R ARSI AEE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: ZEEBRIAT
2015 2014
—E—-EF —T-mF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Loss before income tax & BT 15 74 R 5 18 (85,886) (110,439)

Tax credit at applicable tax rate of 16.5% 1&3E i 16.5%+ & ~

MIAHE % (14,171) (18,222)
Tax effect of share of results of associates JE{GHE & N Rl 4E 2 Fi i
wa (2,441) (36)
Tax effect of income not taxable for AR A Z T s £
tax purposes (4,442) (300)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for N EEFIFL 7 sz = Tt 75 2 22
tax purposes 1,301 3,767
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTBBE BB E 20,674 11,977
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E b B)E#ER KL 2 I B
operating in other jurisdictions REIZPRBR 2 & 775 959
Income tax expense (credit) for the year ~ FRAEFRIZH (EKE) 1,696 (1,855)
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12.Loss for the Year 12. FREE

2015 2014
—E-I1F —T-MmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx FHET
Loss for the year has been arrived FANEBEBTINNER T3 %8
at after charging: BEB:
Staff costs (including directors’ BTN (BEESRHE) :
emoluments):
Salaries and other benefits e R H g A 34,406 33,177
Retirement benefits scheme RONAE T 2] g5k
contributions 1,668 1,307
36,074 34,484
Amortisation of intangible assets B AEME (B AT
(included in administrative expenses) ) 2,157 2,426
Auditor’s remuneration % SR B & 3,841 3,712
Cost of other inventories sold B HEEMmFERA 105,269 13,686
Depreciation of property, ME BRRBETE
plant and equipment 11,411 12,365
Release of prepaid lease payments TEN A & 5 5k B 619 628
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=H=+—HIFFEZE

13.Directors’, Chief Executive’s and

Employees’ Remuneration

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 5 (2014:

5) directors were as follows:

1B3. 55 THEBRESH M

(@) EEFM

ENHENTSRES(ZF
—HF:5B) BB ZMEWT

2015 2014
—F-1% —FmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT TABIT
Yap, Allan R
Fees e - -
Other emoluments: H A< -
Salaries and other benefits e kHEMmEF 2,400 2,400
Bonus TEAL 10,000 10,000
Retirement benefits scheme RIREFIET SR
contributions 18 15
12,418 12,415
Heung Pik Lun, Edmond a2 fm
Fees e - -
Other emoluments: H AP -
Salaries and other benefits e kHEMmEF 2,147 2,000
Retirement benefits scheme RARAE FIET B3R
contributions 18 15
2,165 2,015
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13.Directors’, Chief Executive’s 13. 55 THEZBRESFH M

and Employees’ Remuneration (#&)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a) EZH (&)
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT T T
Kwok Ka Lap, Alva ElE=hvi
Fees we 50 50
Other emoluments: Eife :
Salaries and other benefits e kEMmEF - =
Retirement benefits scheme RARAE FI T B3R
contributions - -
50 50
Sin Chi Fai R
Fees Fiaka 50 50
Other emoluments: Hin M5 :
Salaries and other benefits FekEAMmET - =
Retirement benefits scheme RIRE RIS R
contributions - —
50 50
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

13.Directors’, Chief Executive’s 1B3.EZ -THARRESEHH
and Employees’ Remuneration (%)
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a) EZE=H (&)
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T
Poon Kwok Hing, Albert 7 (B
Fees e 50 50
Other emoluments: Eife :
Salaries and other benefits e kHEMmEF - =
Retirement benefits scheme RRAE FIET B3R

contributions - -

50 50
Total &t
Directors’ fees EE5He 150 150
Other emoluments: H A B < -
Salaries and other benefits e kHMER 4,547 4,400
Bonus TEAL 10,000 10,000
Retirement benefits scheme RRFETET S
contributions 36 30
14,733 14,580
Dr. Allan Yap is also performing the role of the chief EREETTEERAFITH
executive of the Company with nil emolument for both R 2 TS - M EFE Y5 R
years and his emoluments disclosed above include those AL mEXEEEMNS
of services rendered by him as the chief executive. BRERERITABE TR MR
e
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13.Directors’, Chief Executive’s 13. 55 THEZBRESFH M

and Employees’ Remuneration (#)
(Continued)
(b) Employees’ remuneration (b) & 8
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals of HE-_T-—HF=A=+—H
the Group included two directors for the year ended 31 LEFE AEBRUERHAL
March 2015 (2014: two directors), whose emoluments BIEMEZESE (ZZ—UF W
are included in (a) above. The aggregate emoluments of BEE) FEIZHMEEREX
the remaining three individuals are as follows: @QZ%  -HBp=BAT2HE 42
RN :
2015 2014
—E-hEF —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Salaries and other benefits e kEAMmEN 4,122 4,147
Retirement benefit scheme RRAE I ET 2R
contributions 84 41
4,206 4,188
Number of employees
BEAH
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0018 T2
1,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0018 T2
2,000,000/% 7T 1 1
3 3
No inducement paid or payable to directors to join or REZMEFEE - W EE S ER
upon joining the Group in both years and no directors EENMEIRMEREER 2
waived any emoluments in both years. RE TEEFNEZMEFE
ZAEfIB < -
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14.Dividend 4. B2
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Dividends recognised as distribution FABRRBDIRZRE
during the year:
2014 final — HK2 cents —E-NERHKRE -
(2014: 2013 final dividend FR2BM (T — M5
HK2 cents) per share “E—ZFREBRE
BRR27E) 26,906 22,426
The final dividend of HK1 cent (2014: HK2 cents) per share in EEEEMREBEE_ZT—HAF=AHA
respect of the year ended 31 March 2015 has been proposed =+ —HLEFEIRMNRHARESRI
by the directors and is subject to approval at the forthcoming BA(ZZ—MF: FR22EBW) &

AGREREBRRAFKEG LHE-

annual general meeting.
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15.Loss Per Share 15. BIRE 1B

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RAaEB AEEBREAR LS FE
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BB T B E -

following data:

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR R#E A A E(G S N EE
of the Company (75,325) (102,015)
2015 2014
—F-1% —T-lF
‘000 ‘000
T’ F A%
Number of shares: 2R
Weighted average number of T hntE T E A
ordinary shares 1,281,284 1,121,306
No diluted loss per share has been presented as there were no HRMEFEHERTEEELS A
potential ordinary shares outstanding for both years. BRI E25GREEEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=F—AF =HA=+—HI FF

16.Property, Plant and Equipment 16. M5 - HIBF R 2B

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and Motor
Buildings machinery  equipment vehicles Vessel Total
RE-%RE
BT HIERRE K& RE e wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAE  TER  Tex  TEn  Tan THR
COST 7%
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=FmA—H 92,524 7,928 15,625 10,256 9,750 136,083
Currency realignment INERE 9% 10 7 1 - 114
Additions NE = = 358 992 - 1,350
Disposals HE - - - (240 - (240)
At 31 March 2014 RZZE-—NE=A=1+—H 92,620 7,938 15,990 11,009 9,750 137,307
Currency realignment SRR (96) (10) @) (4) = (117)
Additions NE - - 214 - = 214
Disposals & - - (229) - = (229)
Write off s - - 3) (379) = (382)
At 31 March 2015 RZZE-—RF=A=1+—H 92,524 7,928 15,965 10,626 9,750 136,793
DEPRECIATION AND FERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2013 R-ZE—=FNA—H 34,070 3,414 6,476 4,644 271 48,875
Currency realignment INEHE (22) (5) (16) (5) = (48)
Provided for the year FREE 4,509 707 4,100 2,399 650 12,365
Eliminated upon disposals 6 B 4 - - - (175) - (175)
Impairment loss recognised ~ FRRER A ERKE
during the year 6,158 - - - - 6,158
At 31 March 2014 RZF-—MFE=A=1+—H 44,715 4,116 10,560 6,863 921 67,175
Currency realignment INERE (30) (5) (4) (M = (40)
Provided for the year FRRE 4,452 697 3,585 2,027 650 11,411
Eliminated upon disposals 6 B 3 - - (129) - - (129)
Eliminated upon write off 5 s 9 8 = = 3) (379) = (382)
At 31 March 2015 R=ZF-—HF¥=A=1+—H 49,137 4,808 14,009 8,510 1,571 78,035
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2015 R=B-HF=ZA=+-H 43,387 3,120 1,956 2,116 8,179 58,758
At 31 March 2014 RZE-ME=A=+—H 47,905 3,822 5,430 4,146 8,829 70,132

124 Hanny Holdings Limited #5082 # 5 R 2 7]



16.Property, Plant and Equipment 16. )% KRR ()
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are bt MENFREBR JVILE R

depreciated on straight-line basis at the following rates per ENRA TN FERFTE -

annum.

Buildings Over the period of the leases el 152 0 49 T HR g,
or2% - 5% 2% —5%

Plant and machinery 10% — 20% e 25 N 1 Ak 10% —20%

Furniture, fixtures and 10% - 33% RE - HEREZHE 10%—33%

equipment

Motor vehicles 20% — 25% E 20% —25%

Vessel 6.7% mE 6.7%

The Group’s buildings are situated on a piece of land in PRC REBZEFMNATE P EAHELD

with medium-term leases. 4t o

During the year, the directors conducted a review on the FRN - EBEERS THAKEBERSESE

recoverable of cash-generating units ("CGU") of water supply B ([REESEM]) 2l lkEi2

business, whose operating assets also include property, plant B ZEBKIKRLEHEEENBDED

and equipment (as above), intangible assets with finite useful 2 OBmSENKE (L) EBRER

lives (as set out in note 18) and prepaid lease payments (as set FH 7B\ EE (FRW:E18) A K&

out in note 17). Accordingly, no impairment indicator noted FENHEEN R (FHRHFE17) o &t -

(2014: impairment loss HK$6,158,000 recognised) in respect SR MK ETS 2 W5 S R

of property, plant and equipment, which are used in water SEREBENR (ZE—TNF: &

supply business. TR R (B 186,158,000/ 7T ) ©
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16.

17.

Property, Plant and Equipment 16. M) KRR ()
(Continued)
For impairment purpose, the calculation uses cash flow RREMS  ZAEEAEARESRE
projections based on the most recent financial budgets Al MRS RIERBIEREEERR
approved by the management for the coming year and FRBrMPMBEE  WRES
extrapolates the cash flows projection for the following 5 (ZE2E—MOF - T)EREHEERK
years with zero (2014: zero) growth rate and for the further FEUARBBETHEREXFHEERR
20 years with zero growth rate and pre-tax discount rate of T EZRemEA - AR IR =R
19% (2014: 18%). Another key assumptions for the value in B19% (ZE—HF:18% ) o A
use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows which BEAEEZZS—FTEBRRERER
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation AZBF AR (ERBEHERERE
is based on the unit's past performance and management'’s FE) ZEMETTIBREAREN 2B
expectations for the market development. FRELEREHMSER2BEM
B
Prepaid Lease Payments 17. BN HEEMNK
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands REBZFANHEENZKBIEESRHIE
in the PRC held under medium-term land use rights. Bt AEEAE A E T o
2015 2014
—E—-hF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TFE T
Analysed for reporting purposes as: B2 B KM EH 24
Non-current asset ERBEE 10,532 11,166
Current asset mENE E 619 619
11,151 11,785

126 Hanny Holdings Limited #5082 #5R 2 7]



18.Intangible Assets

18. B EE

Operating
right to
Customer water supply
contracts business Total
ok E7E
EEEN sERER 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAE T FET &L
COST AR A
At 31 March 2014 and R-E—NMF=A=+—HK
31 March 2015 —H=mE=H=T—FE 31,472 13,395 44,867
AMORTISATION AND #e &R E
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2013 R-_E—=FmMA—H 12,451 3,529 15,980
Impairment loss recognised £ A& 2 B 5 1B
in the year 1,910 1,050 2,960
Charge for the year F AR 1,951 475 2,426
At 31 March 2014 RZE—WFEF=A=+—H 16,312 5,054 21,366
Charge for the year F AR 1,733 424 2,157
At 31 March 2015 R-_E—RFE=ZA=+—H 18,045 5,478 23,523
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 31 March 2015 R-E—HRE=H=+—H 13,427 7,917 21,344
At 31 March 2014 R—E—mWFEF=A=+—H 15,160 8,341 23,501

The above intangible assets were purchased as part of the

acquisition of Regrowth Resources Limited (water supply
business) during the year ended 31 March 2008.

PREVEEIRBE_TTN\F=
A=1T—BLEFEABA (EREE
HMEBRBRAR (HKER) 2 —

o e

Annual Report 2014/2015 ## 127




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRE R R A At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

18.Intangible Assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of HK$2,960,000 (2015: nil) in relation
to the customer contracts and operating right included
in intangible assets arising on acquisition of water supply
business, which is included in the CGU of water supply

business.

The above intangible assets have finite lives and are amortised

on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Customers contracts 10 — 15 years
Operating right to water supply business 26 years

19.Interests in Associates

/\\\ j (/Il

REBEEZFT-—NMF=A=+—H1E
ir;¢%lwt§)5m,ﬁ&%«%%ﬂ
(Bt ABBHKEBAEE 2 EF
& E)ERB(EE 182,960,000/ 7T
(ZE2E—RF 8) B AHKER
ZEEESEM-

REREES EREEER R T
PR IR E AR -

EEAH 10— 154
oK T & E 264

19. Bt E N AR

2015 2014
—E-EF —F-MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T
Cost of investment in RSB ERRIRE 2
associates which are: BN
— listed — k™ 743,742 168,742
— unlisted (note) —JE kT (HaE) 41,960 41,960
Share of post-acquisition profit and FEAE U 18 R ) e H 2 TH
other comprehensive income, WA BB AR S
net of dividends received 23,642 4,299
809,344 215,001

Note: Included in the cost of investment in associates was goodwill of
HK$85,914,000 (2014: HK$24,268,000) arising on acquisition of
an associate.
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. & QR (&)

During the year ended 31 March 2014, an impairment loss REBEE—_ZT—NF=ZA=+—HIF
of HK$3,040,000 (2015: nil) was recognised in relation to B AEEAEAKE —FE R Rm
goodwill arising on acquisition of an associate. EEHE 2 B RERR (B &5 183,040,000

BIT(ZZE—0LF &)

Details of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March 2014 AEEBR-_ZT—MOFR-_T—RHF=
and 2015 are as follows: A=+—BzxEHLE R AFEN
T
Place of
incorporation/ Place of Proportion of equity
Name of associate establishment operation interest held by the Group  Principal activities
- UNCES R AR SRR 3L 3t B EEMY AEEERRELS TEEH
2015 2014
“E2-IfF —T-|mE
% %
Fortune Well Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong and PRC 26.09 26.09 Manufacturing and trading
(“Fortune Well”) ("BVI") BBRA of garments products
RERLES MREER BB R
(RBEXES])
China Enterprises Limited (“CEL") Bermuda Hong Kong and PRC 28.95 28.95 Investment holding
BRE BERTE RERRK
Rosedale Hotel Holdings Limited ~ Bermuda Hong Kong and PRC 22.58 - Hotel operation and trading
("Rosedale”) BRE BRRSH of securities
HEBERRERAR ([HE]) BEEERZESEE
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. & QR (&)

Fortune Well’s subsidiaries operate in both Hong Kong and the
PRC. During the year ended 31 March 2014, an impairment
loss of HK$3,040,000 (2015: nil) has been recognised in
relation to Fortune Well as the recoverable amount is lower

than carrying amount of Fortune Well.

CEL's subsidiaries operate in both Hong Kong and the PRC and
its shares are traded on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board
("OTC Board”) in the United States of America. The principal
activities of CEL are investment holding. The financial year end
date of CEL is 31 December. The Group's share of net assets
and interests of CEL at 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2015 is
calculated based on the net assets of CEL as at 31 December
2013 and 31 December 2014 respectively, after adjusting for
any material transactions up to 31 March 2014 and 31 March
2015.

As at 31 March 2015, the market value of CEL held by the
Group is approximately HK$7,128,000 (2014: HK$6,683,000)
based on the quoted price in the OTC Board while the Group's
share of the carrying amount of CEL is HK$206,513,000 (2014:
HK$180,913,000).

Rosedale’s subsidiaries operate in both Hong Kong and PRC
and is a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
its financial year end is 31 December. As such, the Group has
equity accounted for this associate using published financial
information of Rosedale. The Group has completed the

acquisition of its entire interest in Rosedale in December 2014.
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Fortune WellZfiB AR R E A K
FREE REBEE_T—NF=A
=+ —HIEFE AR Fortune Well
Z AR E S EENKREE ALEH
Fortune Well #3258 (B &3183,040,000
BLT(ZE—RF &)

CELZMBARIRN BB RPELE -
ERDEZBESIN ZZEEBR ([35
IRXGHBIRI)EE-CELCEEX
EAREER - CELZBBREEE IF
HEA+-_A=+—H -XxEEEWH
CELR—ZE—mF=A=+—HK=
T-—AF=—A=+—RAZEEFEK
Bax DORIBREBCELRZZ—=F
+TZA=+—HBE=ZZF—mF+=A
=St+—HZEERE KHEEZ-ZT
—ME=A=+—Bk=_Z—HF=
A=1T—RBZERAEARFETAHE
BETHE -

RZZTE—RAF=A=+—H " &HIH
RG%HBRCBREAE  AEEH
Z CELM{E#4) 47,128,000 T (=&
— P04 : 6,683,000/ 7T ) © A& F
J& {h 2 CELBR M & Bl £206,513,000
B (ZZF — 4 :180,913,0008
TT) °

HEZHBRARNEERTEEE
HARBEMIM EMZ AR B
FEHIIBEHRT-_A=1t—H R
It REEZRAB B TIRMKE
EEIE R A WNCIEICE 3 RN L)
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued)

For the Group’s financial years ended 31 March 2015, the
Group has used the consolidated financial statements of
Rosedale for the financial years ended 31 December 2014
respectively in applying the equity method of accounting in
respect of the interests in the equity shares of Rosedale held
by the Group. For the Group’s financial year ended 31 March
2015, no significant transaction or event that occur between
1 January and 31 March 2015, when applying the equity
method.

As at 31 March 2015, the market value of Rosedale held
by the Group is approximately HK$80,193,000 based on
the quoted price from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, as
compared to the Group’s share of the carrying amount of
Rosedale of HK$573,881,000.

The directors conducted a review on the recoverable amounts
of the Group’s investment in Rosedale and loans to Rosedale
using value in use calculation. The value in use calculation,
instead of fair value less cost to sell, is used to determine
the recoverable amounts as the market value of Rosedale is
too low, in which the directors will not consider to recover
the investment in Rosedale through sale in the market.
The directors determine that there are no impairments on
the Group’s investment in Rosedale using the value in use
calculation. The value in use is determined using the Group's
share of existing cash balance and present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the
associate.

19. BbE N A e (&)

RAEERE-T-HFZA=t—
B E BT T & - AR B B A
4 561 BB R 7 R 49 4 2 FE PR AR 25 B B
% ERBHBRE-_T-—Mm4F
t-AZt—BLHBRFEZRE
MisEE-RALEBRE-T A5
= A=+ — B BB R 2
EME —FT-—RE—A—BZ=A
S+ AEMLEREEARSRE
o

RZZTE—hAF=A=+—H &KBRE
BRI CRE ~EBAFREZ
T {E #/480,193,000/# 7t M A& E
JE15IHE 2 BRE 1B B /573,881,000
HIT °

ESCRAEREBEMEL BIX
SENHBZRERKTHEZE
T R Y [ 2 58 o N E R MK Bl 2 38
W RAEREESEEMIEQFE
BMEERATARNBEZ M EBE:
EETeEREBRT S EHENK
BIRABZIRE - EFRE  RRE
REEFEE FA&ERNABZKRE
VERBE - BRAEREEILDERAANSE
BEEZBE AR RARCEHR LT
HELEZEFARREREREE
T o
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. & QR (&)

The Group’s share of net assets and interests of Rosedale at 31 AEBRGEHER-_ZE—AF=A
March 2015 is calculated based on the net assets of Rosedale =t+—HZEEF E&%ﬁﬁ WLk
at 31 December 2014 and the results up to 31 December RIREBEREHE_Z—NF+=A

2014,

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014,

respectively, as stated in Rosedale’s consolidated

and adjusted for the effects of a significant transaction that
occurred between 1 January 2015 and 31 March 2015.

The above tables list the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of
the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group at the end of the reporting period. To
give details of other associates would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Summarised financial information of material associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s material associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. B& X REm= (&)

Summarised financial information of material associates BEARBENRZHIEERBRE (£)
(Continued)
All of these associates are accounted for using the equity ZEBE N R AERIERZ
method in these consolidated financial statements. —Er,*én\ﬁﬁﬁ%%t&ﬁj\ﬁﬁ
(a)  Fortune Well (a) Fortune Well
31.03.2015 31.03.2014
—Z2-EF —F—AmF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T T T
Current assets MENEE 74,797 116,355
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,339 11,379
Current liabilities mEEE (65,194) (90,096)
2015 2014
—F-1% —F—mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FH T
Revenue WA 186,937 229,147
Loss and total comprehensive FABELEHE
expense for the year > 42 %8 (19,694) (21,940)
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iRa B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z - ZF—AF =HA=+—HI FZ

LK

19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. & QA= (&

Summarised financial information of material associates BABENRZHMBERBRE (&)

(Continued)

(a)  Fortune Well (Continued) (a) Fortune Well (#)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial J:Lﬁﬁi"“zﬁﬂﬁigéﬁiﬁ/\,m/\ﬁﬁ
information to the carrying amount of the interest in BMEERCHE AR ER
the associate recognised in the consolidated financial HEZ HR:
statements:

31.03.2015 31.03.2014

—F-1%F —FmF

=ZA=+—H =RA=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER T T

Net assets of Fortune Well Fortune WellZ & &= #18 17,942 37,638
Proportion of the Group's N5 E i Fortune Wellz

ownership interest in Fortune Well % & # # 25 Lt {31 26.09% 26.09%

Goodwill Bl 24,268 24,268

Carrying amount of the Group's 7N &= E 7 Fortune Well
interest in Fortune Well W2 BREE 28,950 34,088
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

19, B 2 A3 (

V1

=]

BERBMERRZUBERME (&)

(Continued)
CEL (b) CEL
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
—ET-HF —ET—=F
tZA=+—HB +ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
&L &L
Current assets MENE E 614,964 630,904
Non-current assets IERBEE 183,546 186,012
Current liabilities mE B E (40,262) (66,010)
Non-current liabilities IERBEE - (81,083)
1.1.2014 to 1.1.2013 to
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
—E-mF —F—=
—H—B= —H—B=Z
—F— U4 —ZE—=
+—A=+—H +=-—A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
T&T Tt
Revenue WA - -
Profit for the year F A 5 A 72,621 20,779
Other comprehensive income FREMEERA (FAX)
(expense) for the year 16,596 (17,763)
Total comprehensive income FAZHEBPARE
for the year 89,217 3,016
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iRa B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=H=+—HIFFE

=N

19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. & QR (&)

Summarised financial information of material associates BABENRZHMBERBRE (&)
(Continued)
(b) CEL (Continued) (b) CEL (#)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial LB BENMEENEGE W
information to the carrying amount of the interest in BHMEERZHE ARAERRE
the associate recognised in the consolidated financial HEZ HR:
statements:
31.12.2014 31.12.2013
—T-mE —FT—=
+=-—A=+—8 +=—A=+—H©
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Net assets of CEL CELz BEFE 758,248 669,823
Proportion of the Group's REERCELZHER
ownership interest in CEL T HE 2 L 28.95% 28.95%
Other adjustments H A & (13,000) (13,000)
Carrying amount of the Group's AEBNRCELEZRSZ
interest in CEL FREE 206,513 180,913
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19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. B&RREm (&

Summarised financial information of material associates BEABERRZHBERBE (£)
(Continued)
(c) Rosedale (c) HE
31.12.2014
—T-mEF
+=—RA=+—8H
HK$'000
&L
Current assets MENE E 1,683,446
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,289,268
Current liabilities mEAE (275,554)
Non-current liabilities IERBEE (428,624)
1.1.2014 to
31.12.2014
—E—F
=E=BZ=
—E—F
+=-—A=+—8H
HK$'000
THT
Revenue N 406,647
Profit for the year F A 5 A 372,931
Other comprehensive expense FAHEAMEERFXS
for the year (20,685)
Total comprehensive income FAEZHEBPARE
for the year 352,246
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #HZ - ZF—AF=HA=+—HIFZ

19.Interests in Associates (Continued) 19. & QA= (&

Summarised financial information of material associates BABENRZHBERBRE (&)
(Continued)
(c) Rosedale (Continued) (c) HE(#E)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial J:Lﬁﬁi"“zﬁﬂﬁigéﬁiﬁ/\,m/\ﬁﬁ
information to the carrying amount of the interest in BMEERZHE AR ER
the associate recognised in the consolidated financial H1E ¥R :
statements:
31.12.2014
—
+=—A=+—H
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets of Rosedale R EESE 2,268,536
Proportion of the Group's REERBE 2 RBEEZ O
ownership interest in Rosedale 22.58%
Goodwill [ 61,646

BN IR s < BREE

4
i

Carrying amount of the Group’s

interest in Rosedale 573,881

138 Hanny Holdings Limited #58E% @5 R 2 &




19.Interests in Associates (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

material

19. BE N A ER (&)

BRI TEA 2 ME AR 2 EEER

2015 2014

—E-RE —T—HEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THER T

The Group's share of loss NEEELESE - (72)

Aggregate carrying amount
a2 R E

of the Group’s interests
in these associates

AEERNLEEFBHERT

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of certain associates. The amounts of unrecognised share of
those associates, extracted from the relevant audited financial
statements of associates, both for the year and cumulatively,

are as follows:

AEBORITERARIEETHZEAF
ZEE-UTREEZERLERRLZ
FARRFTRERRE  HHEEE A
[Eal NI PR E

2015 2014
—E-EF —F-0mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER T
Accumulated unrecognised share of FE(G B & AR 2 REf
losses of associates RIEREE (1,571) (1,571)
Unrecognised share of losses of B E AR ZFE A
associates for the year RIERIEE - (99)
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iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

20.Available-for-sale Investments 20. AIHEHERE

2015 2014
—F-1% —FmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT TABIT
Listed investments: EmgE:

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REB LM 2 RAEFES 27,540 13,349

Unlisted securities: FELEMES:
— Equity securities (note) — M ARFES (HaE) 45,129 53,022
72,669 66,371

Wiz EETRABFEEBRRITEM
RPBZMEEDS 2 KIRET - B

REERFHEMGBFHBERE A M

Note: The unlisted equity securities represent an investee engaged in
holding of properties interest located in the PRC. The unlisted
equity securities are measured at cost less impairment at the

end of the reporting period because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be
measured reliably. An impairment loss of HK$7,792,000 (2014:
HK$9,603,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the
year as there is objective evidence that the cost of investments

ARRESZRAEIELTRAES
ZAFEEET] S S A H
HERIZE AN BB BT E X EE
FoHRIERTEERELTEE
FUREHEERA  HAEEFAL
RIBEH#R7,792,0008 T (==

— P04 : 9,603,000/ 7T ) Z A&
B8

21. FEHEEN =

cannot be fully recoverable.

21.Properties Held for Sale

HK$'000

TATT

At 1 April 2013 NR-ZZE—=FmMA—H 79,115
Additions NE 27,606
Disposals k= (9,977)
At 31 March 2014 R-—E—WmF=A=+—H 96,744
Additions NE 90,772
Disposals & (90,755)
At 31 March 2015 R-ZE—RE=A=+—H 96,761
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21

22

.Properties Held for Sale

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015,
completed the disposal of properties, at a consideration of
HK$95,000,000 (2014: nil), which were acquired at a price of
HK$90,755,000 during the year.

the Group

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group has
performed leasehold refurbishment on a property with the
consideration for HK$27,606,000.

.Properties Under Development for

Sale

The properties under development for sale was acquired
through the acquisition of 60% interest in Best Smooth during
the year ended 31 March 2010.

The properties under development for sale represent land
use rights for a piece of land located in Guangzhou, PRC and
development costs incurred to date on the properties erected
on it. The development work has not yet been completed and
has been suspended for over 10 years. Upon completion of
acquisition of 60% interests in Best Smooth by the Group in
December 2009, the Group reactived the development and
commenced to negotiate with various contractors for the
design and implementation of the construction work of the

properties.

During the year ended 31 March 2011,
acquired the remaining 40% interest in Best Smooth and 3%

the Group further

interest in a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Best Smooth.
The Group's interest in Best Smooth and its subsidiaries was

increased to 100% thereafter.

21. F1EEHEWE (&)
RBE-_ZT—HAF=A=+—81t
FE AEEEZKEERFEFAMN
90,755,000 T Bz M RE A
95,000,000 70 ( Z = —PO4F : £ ) -
REE-_Z—NF=ZA=+—HLF
B AEBE A BYEETHED
# - (8 &27,606,0008 T °

22. FEBRREARYE

ERRPVRDEBRNEE
E_ A=+—H JtEEH&EﬁEIIIEZ
60 % # o 1 YL 5 -

FTEERRPMEETBEEMN B LM
ZTHERAERE FFREMERES
BEEZBERKAN ZERIRERAT
T WEHEBBTF AEERZ
ZENFTZ AT KEBIEC0% 1
mig AREBIREER  WHIEET

FAEEEREAMERERIIEZR
FTRELT

REBE—_FT——F=_A=t+—HLHF
AEBEE - WIE AR T40%
BakBIE-—HIFE2EMNBARZ
3%Em -AKBRAIBLENER
AlZ R HKRIEE100% °

m%
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

22.Properties Under Development for

Sale (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group entered
into a framework agreement with an independent third
party, Prosperous Global Development Limited (“Prosperous
Global”), to dispose of 49% equity interest in China Good,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Best Smooth which
holds the properties under development for sale in the
PRC, at the consideration of RMB622,383,080 (equivalent
to approximately HK$746,860,000).
October 2011 and February 2012,
framework agreement further entered into the supplemental
A total of RMB523,302,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$607,613,000) consideration were received

In June, September,
the parties to the

agreements.

and accordingly a total of 41% equity interest in proportional
to the total consideration of RMB622,383,080 (equivalent to
approximately HK$746,860,000) was transferred to Prosperous
Global in a single tranche during the year ended 31 March
2012. As the Group has not lost control over China Good,
the loss on disposal of 41% equity interests in China Good
amounting to HK$11,202,000, being the difference between
the carrying amount of HK$618,815,000 of the 41% interests
transferred and the consideration received was debited to

other reserves during the year ended 31 March 2012.

The remaining 8% interest in China Good was also transferred
to Prosperous Global upon the receipt of remaining
consideration of HK$122,115,000 during the year ended
31 March 2013. An amount of HK$63,182,000, being the
difference between the carrying amount of HK$185,297,000
of the 8% interests transferred and the consideration received
was debited to other reserves during the year ended 31 March
2013.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SERRTYE (&)

REBEE-_ZT——_F=A=+—HLt
FE - AEEHEHBYE=FEMNER
HRERBR AR ([EHMEK])ET
VERBE NEERPE(HBIEZ
HEE2EMNBAR BHEMRFTH
LEHEERERYE) 249%R#E
KEAEARMG622,383,0807T (48
BN 4746,860,0008 ) o I

T-——F XA NAEKTAUR=
T-—_F-RA ERXBREAIZITOE
F#E— PRIV amEZ - REBE
T-——_F=ZA=+—BLFE"
EWE A £ ARKS523,302,000
7t (¥ E M #607,613,0008 7T ) 2
RE MBEL ERBEEGEBRE
AR #622,383,0807T (& R4
746,860,000 ) 2 tL il - #§ &
AN%BRE—RNBEETEFIRIK

HRAEEYEEREPEZIE
- MEEREM%RIEZEIE
11,202,000/ 7T (BN E 8 2 41 %4
= Z BT {E618,815,0005 JT £ 2 Ut
REZZB)EREZE_ZE——F=
A=+—BLFEREMmFEER
E}%o

RBE_ZT—=F=A=+—HLF
[ B8R T 8% & 71 2 B UK B R
TH1{B122,115,0008 L4 EETE
R ER Bk - 5 8163,182,000/8 7t (BB
Wi 8%« BREE185,297,000
BTHEBRREZZR)EREEC
T =FZA=Z+—HULEFEREM
FEEAINR -



22

23.

.Properties Under Development for

Sale (Continued)

The properties under development for sale were continuously
March 2015. The
management of the Group expect the project to be realised

classified as current assets as at 31
within next 12 months.
Valuation of the properties under development for sale as at

31 March 2015 has been carried out by an independent valuer

by reference to open market value and the market evidence of

22.

TERRDYE (&)

W=Z-AF=A=t+—0 HE%
BRMERESBRRDEE A%
BEREREBNART = EARBER
HESR-

FEERPYVWER_ZT—HF=H
=t+—H Zﬁﬁdﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂi%&%%
iﬂﬂﬂi&ﬁﬂiiﬂ*ﬁWZW%**E%%’“F‘%WTE

transaction prices for similar properties in the same locations EMBR5BREEET MAR
and conditions and the directors of the Company consider that EERRUEHBRELR
no impairment indication is noted.
Trade and Other Receivables and 23. B H b & U R IR I FEAY
Prepayments Y IE
2015 2014
—E-RE —mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx FHET
Trade receivables B 5 rEW IR 238 226
Prepaid land appreciation tax (note a) TEfT L3RBT (A7 ata) 68,035 18,521
Other receivables (net of allowance for H b pE W IR (H1FR R BR
doubtful debts) Bim) 1,997 2,905
Deposits and prepayments (note b) & RTENRIE (Hi7Eb) 256,026 364,780
Interest receivables & W) 2 3,287 =
329,583 386,432
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iR e B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=HA=+—HI FEF

23.Trade and Other Receivables and 23. EZ R HMEWRIER AN

o E9d =

Prepayments (Continued) RIE (&)

Notes: Bt -

(@)  Prepaid land appreciation tax was incurred under ordinary course (@ TERNTHIEEFRNEBEGBEHR
of business. Therefore, it is classified as current asset. EX BAhsBEARBEE-

(b) As at 31 March 2015, the balance includes prepayment of by RZE—HF=A=+—H0 %
approximately HK$231,955,000 paid to three contractors (2014: HREEBN=Z2FBEHIREL
prepayment of HK$319,625,000 paid to two contractors). These 231,955,000 7L (—Z & — M4 : 78
payments were made in the normal course of business of the < P & % B 7 2 5/ 1E319,625,000
Group in accordance with the respective agreements and solely PEIT) ° i B RIRIE R AR B R A
for the construction of the project. These amounts paid shall SEZEREBBEPIEL EH#
be capitalised as properties under development for sale to the HERE LA ZFENFRIEBIR
extent as certified from time to time. TREBEZEEENMAFEER

Sk E

The Group allows an average credit period of one to two AEEMEESRFPRETH—EM

months to its trade customers. The following is an aged BATEZEEH RERKHR

analysis of trade receivable, presented based on invoice B RUGRIBNBRRRBEEREEH
date, net of allowance for doubtful debts at the end of each HIZ| 2 BREC DT

reporting period:

2015 2014

—F-1% —FmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT T

0-30 days 0&30H 238 226
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23.Trade and Other Receivables and 23. EZ R HMEWRIER AN

. *p =
Prepayments (Continued) I (&)
Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess and EEMNEAFERA NEB g
understand the potential customer’s credit quality and defines RTMBERFZEEBRUETH
its credit limits. Credit limits attributed to each customer are FEERBE - BURFZEERENE
reviewed regularly. YEE Bt aT o
No trade receivable balance is past due at the reporting date RWEFEE  NEEWHEA P RA
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss for PR AR RAEBERECZES
both years. JE WS SR IE 4 A o
No allowance for doubtful debts on trade receivables was RRESFE  WEME S ERFIER
provided and no movement in the allowance was noted for R IREE TEESREZS-
both years.
24.Investments Held for Trading 24 HIEEERE
Investments held for trading at the end of the reporting period RERAR FEESKREBE:
include:
2015 2014
—E-EF —ZT—mE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Listed securities at fair value: BRAFEZ ETES:
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REBEEETMZRAESH 110,986 89,018
— Equity securities listed elsewhere —REMM T 2 RA
7 5 121 167
111,107 89,185
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iR e B R A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF=HA=+—HI FEF

25.

26.

. S HA €5 =k
Short-Term Loans Receivable 25. FEWUE R & 5K
2015 2014
—E-1F —ZT-MmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Loans receivable FE U E 3K 35,684 =
As at 31 March 2015, the Group advanced HK$5,684,000, RZZE—RF=A=+—H F5&E
HK$15,000,000 and HK$15,000,000 unsecured short-term # 145,684,000/ 7T * 15,000,000/
loan to three independent third parties. JC % 15,000,000 L EK R E R
F=ZBIE=F
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group advanced RBEE-_ZT—NF=A=+—H81t
unsecured short-term loan HK$10,000,000 and HK$6,540,000 FE > NEE 110,000,000 7T &
to two independent third parties and full amount of loan 6,540,000 TEK P EHER T M
receivables was repaid during the year. There is no outstanding BEIFE=ZF ZERBERER
balance as at 31 March 2014. FAZHEE-R_ZT—HNF=A
=+—H #MEREEZEH-
The loans receivable carry interest at Hong Kong Prime Rate BUWEREEEREBEMEGFE I
and are repayable on demand. AEERERE-
Bank Balances and Cash 26. SRITHEBRRRE

The bank balances and cash comprises cash and short-term
bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less
held by the Group. The bank balances carries interest at 0.01%
to 0.2% per annum (2014: 0.01% to 0.35% per annum).
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27.Trade and Other Payables and 27. B 5 R H M BB AT FRE KBSt
Accruals gH
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-mEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHETT
Trade payables B 5 IR - 6
Accrued expenses FEET R XX 19,839 17,731
Interest payables FERF B 4,929 3,234
Payables for construction project 3R IE B FE R IR 248,520 76,882
Others HAt 29,730 33,648
303,018 131,501
The following is an aged analysis of trade payable (based on MREBRFEAR - & 5 FEMRIE 2RI
the invoices date) at the end of each reporting period: ot (IREZEEE5) AT
2015 2014
—Z-IF —FlF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHETT
Over 60 days R @60 H - 6
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RE R AR At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

—AF=ZA=1—HIFE

- %
28.Borrowings 28. f& 3K
2015 2014
—E-REF —m4E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TR
Borrowings comprise: BRBHE
Secured bank borrowings BHEPRITERK 1,162,413 1,280,036
Secured other borrowings BB EAMEK 60,174 65,870
Unsecured other borrowings I 15 1 L th 15 3K 352,951 65,429
1,575,538 1,411,335
The amounts are repayable as follows: LHFRIBAR AT FHIEE
The Group's borrowings are repayable REEZ BRAERER
based on repayment schedules set out I s A D
in the loan agreements, as follows: BEEWT:
— within one year ——FR 1,013,461 806,559
— more than one year, but not ——ERETBAMRE
exceeding two years 119,018 104,271
— more than two years, but not —MEREBIBAREE
more than five years 357,054 312,812
— more than five years —RE% 59,509 156,406
The Group's borrowings that contain a REZRBHEPHEIZEK
repayable on demand clause in the loan EEGRRZAEBBR:
agreements:
— within one year ——FR 2,887 6,050
— not repayable within one year from — AN BRI R
the end of the reporting period —FREE 23,609 25,237
1,575,538 1,411,335
Less: Amounts due within one year BSARBBEIET
shown under current liabilities R—F A EH 2 58 (1,039,957) (837,846)
535,581 573,489
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28.Borrowings (Continued)

The Group's borrowings were based on Hong Kong Prime
Rate, HIBOR and benchmark interest rate in People’'s Bank of
China. The ranges of effective interest rates during the year
(which are equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group's

borrowings are as follows:

28. fEFK (#&)

AEBERREERERFE B
PITRLRERREARETZ HE
BRHE - AEBERRERNZER
I (AZERAHFE) T

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F

Effective interest rate: BERF =
Variable-rate borrowings 2 BAE R

2.61% toE 10% 2.62% to= 12%

Included in the total amount of HK$352,951,000 of unsecured
other borrowing as at 31 March 2015, a promissory note in
the principal amount of HK$300,000,000 carries interest of
5% per annum and maturing in December 2015 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of the Group's interests in

Rosedale as set out in notes 19 and 34.

MN-_TE—RAFEF=ZA=+—H &EEH
H b {8 X 42 58352,951,0007%8 7T £
& 7K % %8 £300,000,0005 7T 2 7 H,
ZE RFEES%E R_ZT—AF
= AEIHR - ThftFE19 K 34FT it i B
REBRPEC NI RE-
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RE R AR At

For the year ended 31 March 2015 # % — &

—AF=ZA=1—HIFE

- L
29.Share Capital 29. BAR
Number of
shares Value
vgrid- 4= BE
HK$'000
FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE0.018 T2 TR
Authorised: AR
At 1 April 2013, 31 March 2014 and R=ZFE—=FMA—H
31 March 2015 ZE-WOF=A=F+—HK
—E—RF=ZA=+ 20,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHRRKRA
Balance at 1 April 2013 and RZE—=FMWA—HBK
31 March 2014 —E-ME=A=+—H
25 1,121,306,319 11,213
Placing of shares (note) %Hﬁfﬁ (Ktit) 484,000,000 4,840
Balance at 31 March 2015 RZE—RF=A=+—H
2 kE 1,605,306,319 16,053
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2015, 224,000,000 and Kiat: RBEZ2_ZFE—AHAF=ZA=+—

260,000,000 new shares were placed on 15 September 2014
at the placing price of HK$0.36 per placing share, and on 6
February 2015 at the placing price of HK$0.30 per placing share

respectively. The new shares pari passu with the existing shares

in all aspects.
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30.Deferred Tax 30. IEAE R 18

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) FANEERZEZBELEHBEERE (B
recognised and movements thereon during the year: E)REZBOT
Fair value

adjustment of

intangible

assets

and property,

plant and

equipment

arising on Accelerated
business tax

combination depreciation Tax losses Total

EEHEH

MEEZ

ENEER

NE -BER

RENTE
AR MEARERE REFE HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT AT AT
At 1 April 2013 R-ZZE—=FfNA—H 10,952 84 31) 11,005
Credit to profit or loss REZ AR (4,816) 41 = (4,775)
At 31 March 2014 RZE-ME=A=t—H 6,136 125 (31) 6,230
Credit to profit or loss REZ AR (623) (67) 1) (691)
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—h$=A=+—H 5513 58 (32) 5,539
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iRa B IR A

For the year ended 31 March 2015 B Z=—F—AF =HA=+—HI F&F

30.Deferred Tax (Continued) 30. IEERIE (&)

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

RERAMEIMRARZ2FIME & T
EXHEEERABE THE - UT
ARVERA T HR R sk BRI IR A R D
I

2015 2014

—E-EF —F-WmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

T FABTT

Deferred tax assets EEFIEE = (32) (31)
Deferred tax liabilities AT IH B (E 5,571 6,261
5,539 6,230

The Group has unused tax losses of HK$908,374,000 as at
31 March 2015 (2014: HK$783,077,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such tax losses amounting to HK$196,000
(2014: HK$196,000). No deferred tax has been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax loss of HK$908,178,000 (2014
HK$782,881,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The losses can be carried forward indefinitely.
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31.Dissolution/Disposal of a

Subsidiary

A non-wholly owned subsidiary, MRI dissolved on 28
February 2015. The non-controlling interests released upon
the dissolution. The exchange differences attributable to
the Company HK$7,131,000 are reclassified to profit or loss
from the currency translation reserve in equity and the non-
controlling interests released upon dissolution HK$18,000,000
are included in the calculation of the gain on dissolution of a
subsidiary of HK$25,131,000.

On 1 August 2013, the Group entered into an agreement
to dispose of 100% of the issued share capital of Nice
Sun Investments Limited, which is engaged in property
investment and its major assets consist of a basket of land
and, residential and commercial properties, at a consideration
of HK$11,000,000. The disposal was completed on 1 August
2013.

31.

A, HE—BHEB LR

RZBE—RF-_A=-+N\HB ' —ME3k
2 & M B A FIMRIAR BR o FE4% A% 4 25
ERBERRER A R EHERZ
267,131,000 TERERmP 2 EH
HBFEEETDEEBE MR
I 7 R 2 JE AR # 2518,000,0007%
TAIE R — R B A F Z U
25,131,000/ TH & -

RZZE—=%NNA—HB &~&£EH
513 — % LA & Nice Sun

Investments Limited 2 100% 2 2 1T
B AR R B 11,000,000 7T ° Nice
Sun Investments Limited Z 27 &4

ERE METBEEERRE£1+
W EELBEVEF - LEFEDR

—E—=FN\A—HBEK-
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. - - H, == —
31.Dissolution/Disposal of a 31. BE,/ HE—EWE L F
Subsidiary (Continued) (#&)
The effect of the disposal is summarised as follows: HEFHZZERMWNT
2014
—E—OF
HK$'000
FETT
Net assets disposed of: gz &ESFE:
Properties held for sale FEHEY R 9,977
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE b U FRIA 23
Trade and other payables 25 N E bR FOE (278)
9,722
Total consideration received BB E 11,000
Gain on disposal & RS 1,278
Consideration satisfied by: REBZXHAR:
Cash Re 11,000
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMELEZFHREMA
Cash consideration received BEWHRENRE 11,000
The subsidiary disposed of did not contribute any significant RZZ—MF FIEECHBARL
results or cash flows to the Group for 2014. BERASESREMNEAFALR S
ME e
32.Deposits Received in Advance 32. ERET &
The amount represented deposits of HK$818,982,000 (2014: ZeBIImIEEETERERYEI
HK$190,497,000) received in related to the presale of certain 7 5] 4818,982,000/8 5T (=& — I
properties which were under development. £ :190,497,000/87T) °
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33.Deposit for Acquisition of Interest

in an Investment

On 29 September 2010, the Group entered into a conditional
agreement with ITC Properties Holdings Group Limited
("ITCP"), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC Properties
Group Limited (“ITC Properties”), for the acquisition of
50% interest in ITC Properties (China) Limited ("ITCP
(China)"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITCP, and the
outstanding shareholders’ loan for a total consideration of
HK$480,000,000 (“Acquisition”). Deposit of HK$350,000,000
was paid upon signing the conditional agreement. Before
the completion of the Acquisition, ITCP (China) is required
to acquire the entire issued share capital of and (if any) the
shareholders’ loans due by Newskill Investments Limited
(“Newskill”). Newskill is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are holding a property development project
on a land situated in the PRC. The Group held 8% interest
in Newskill, which was classified as an availablefor-sale
investment.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group entered
into a conditional sale and purchase agreement to dispose
of its 8% interest in Newskill, at a cash consideration of
HK$76,800,000. The disposal became part of the condition for
the Acquisition pursuant to the conditional agreement on 29
September 2010 as stated above. The disposal of 8% interest
in Newskill has been completed on 13 June 2012.

33. KiE —IBEREREBZF &

RZZE—ZTFNAZ-T+NAB K&
EEEFMESEAER QA (42
FHME]) cEEZ2ENEB R RITC
Properties Holdings Group Limited
(MTCP AT B &M HaE - AW
BEITC Properties (China) Limited
(HTCP (China)] " ITCPZ =& W B

T)ZSO%%ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬂ%&Hx%%ﬁ
48 K {8 A480,000,0007% T ( Ul&z
E§$IEJ ) cREF B BRHHE
Eiﬁ350,000,000;’§m2£10
R U BE BT AT ITCP (China)Z8
U5 B& Newskill Investments Limited
(INewskill ]) 2 &2 BT IRA &
(208 ) Newskill&E R 2 IR R E R °
Newskill 7 — A &% & = ik A 7]
B AR A —EARFRE—1EH
MECYERRERE - ASBRA
Newskill 8% ## % - B ER DA
AHEERE -

RBE-_Z-—ZTF=A=+—RHILF
B -AEEITYEBRGEREHZ &
E H P NewskillZ8%##x IR KB
#476,800,000/ 7T o 2 1A H & R R IE
XN =T —FTFAA=+T B
2B GG HEETRESE 2B K
5 o HENewskill Z8% HEHE N —F
——FRNA+t=BEK-
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33.

34.

Deposit for Acquisition of Interest
in an Investment (Continued)

As at 31 March 2013,
of the entire issued share capital and the shareholders’

ITCP has completed the acquisition
loan due by Newskill. However, the Acquisition has not yet
been completed as at 31 March 2014 as the conditions of

shareholders’ approval have not yet met.

As at 30 May 2014, ITCP had not provided its consent to a
further extension of the long stop date, being 30 May 2014.
Accordingly, the agreement had lapsed and ceased to be of
any effect immediately after 30 May 2014 and deposit paid
had been refunded by ITCP on 4 June 2014.

Major Non-Cash Transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2015, as stated in notes
19 and 28, the Group acquired an associate with total
consideration of HK$575,000,000, through cash payment
of HK$255,000,000 and deposit of HK$20,000,000. The
remaining balance of the consideration shall be settled by a
promissory note in the principal amount of HK$300,000,000,
carrying interest of 5% per annum and maturing in December
2015, recorded as borrowings in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

156 Hanny Holdings Limited #5825 E 5 R 2 7]
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33.

34.

WEE—RRERZEZF
(&

R-ZZE—=F=HA=+—H"ITCPE
52 AR U BE Newskill 2 38 2 25 1T R AN 2

Newskil B Z LR E K - A1 » R
i) 7 32 AR A IR B L A 2 (G - SRR

EERN-_E—MNE=A=1+—BiEkX
SERK °
R-ZE—WNFRAB=+H" ITCPAH

ABE—FEERKTKBEH (A=
T-MERA=1H) - Bt HHES

o

BT FRAA=THERIIR
THAEABMH ITCPER-_Z—FE
NAMBEEREEDNETE -
FEFBERF
RBE-_ZE—HFE=HA=+—8H

IEEFEE M sE19M28F7 & - £ K
SEKE —HMBEE AR ZBARE
575,000,000/ JT # + 255,000,000
BT AR 2 X+ 20,000,000 7T
NI X -REBBHEARESER
300,000,000 T Z & % ZE 1+
%%@ﬁﬁﬁgmﬁﬁ'%—z
—RETZ AR REEMBIRR
KPP IIERK -



35.Contingent Liabilities

s

35. S AE

\

2015 2014
—B-HF —ZE-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FH T
Amounts granted in respect of R—HEERARMEREE
guarantees given to banks for MEIRITIREERMR T2
facilities granted to an associate k-] 75,000 75,000
Amounts utilised in respect of m—EHME AR EREE
guarantees given to banks for FIRITREERMEBABZ
facilities granted to an associate -l 33,973 38,436

BREXHBEEN AEER_-F
—hAF=-A=+—BR-ZT-HEF=
A=t BRI EEMBIREE-

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014.

36.0perating Leases 36. KEMEL

The Group as lessee REBEREMEA
2015 2014
—E-AHfF —FmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHETT

Minimum lease payments paid RIBLERNZ T2 &IE
under operating leases: HERRK:

Land and buildings T i R EF 4,571 5,915
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36.0perating Leases (Continued) 36. MEMHL (&)
The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBIEAEBA (£)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REBHRHAR  NEEHERET AT
commitments for future minimum lease payments in respect of HZRERY PREEMEZ KRR
rented premises under non-cancellable operating leases which SEEAENFAEZEHBNT

fall due as follows:

2015 2014

—E-EF —F-MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT TFE T

Within one year —F RN 5,064 2,326

In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_EFERF

(BREEMT) 1,427 =

6,491 2,326

Leases are negotiated for lease term of two to three years FAHEIBENFHRME=F (=%

(2014: three to four years) and rentals are fixed over the terms —POF : =Z=PF)  r mASERL
of the leases. N E FE °
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37.

38.

Share Option Scheme

The Company's share option scheme was adopted on 18
September 2014 (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its
shares for the benefits of the Company and its shareholders as

a whole.

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Board may grant
options to directors and employees of the Group and any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters and service providers of any members of
the Group who the Board considers have contributed or will

contribute or can contribute to the Group.

No options were granted since its adoption on 18 September
2014 to 31 March 2015.

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
scheme for qualifying employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs to the scheme subject to a maximum of
HK$1,250 per month prior to 31 May 2014 and HK$1,500 per
month from 1 June 2014, which contribution is matched by

employees.

37.

38.

BIxfEst S

ARBR-ZF—MHFNA+/\BRR
AR & ([T —MFBARER
gl) —FT-HFEREFE AN
ERAZEEREESRNABMER
mHe YHB2ERERANRAT
REBRRERMNEMS NRITALQF
REBKMDEE-

RE-ZF-NFERRESE - EFT
ARBERER TERRGEREEX
EAHHAKREBELERZAREES
KNEE AEBEMRKE AR ZEN
AERE- 2R AR HER-
REA TP EBEBH AEQRE
BRH BEARRBHER-

B-ZF—MOFNA+/N\BERAZTE
BE_Z-—HAF=A=+—H HE
B R AU

BARE R 5 E

AEBAARRABIREFENBATZ
EEREEEHATMELES ([4
Be)itdl-BBeEcEED
BUYRAER UERAEHZES
ARG - AEBHBEBAIENAEAZ
5%[A %t It 5K - BE B 2 N EE
HR -R_FE—WMFRA=1+—HA
ZHREBRAET A1,2508 L B =
Z—ENA—HiERA®A1,500
BIT©
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38.Retirement Benefits Schemes
(Continued)

The Group’s employees who are employed by subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit

scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$1,668,000
(2014: HK$1,307,000) represents contributions payable
to these schemes by the Group in respect of the current
accounting period. As at 31 March 2015, no contribution was
due in respect of the reporting period had not been paid over
to these schemes.

39.Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were
pledged by the Group to secure banking and other financing
facilities:

38.

39.

RIKBRETE (F)

XENPENBARZASEREER
BB AR & o 2 Bl R B R AR KR A
AEKE - REHBARAKIER
T B D ERZRKER & 2 #
o RENREHES ARBHZR
RAGRIGT 8 2 A B R BIER R E 2B

=+
e

Bam AR 2 8K 71,668,000/ 7T
(ZZ—PU4:1,307,0008 7T) 5 A
SEpA S HEEZSHEENZ
HHR-R—_ZT—RFEF=ZA=1+—8"
I 48 &) R ¥ 52 SRt 81 A5 M A B R
HA 2 B B¢ 3R o

BEERM

R EEIR - AR B T 5 & E K
ERBRITREMBEEE ZER:

2015 2014

—F-1% —THmF

HK$000 HK$'000

FExT FABIT

Investments in securities BEHEE 193,937 89,018

Properties held for sale FIEHEWE 90,255 90,238
Properties under development FEBRETRME (M)

for sale (note) 4,280,053 3,271,183

4,564,245 3,450,439

Note: According to the pledge of asset agreement signed for the bank
borrowing, the beneficial ownership of the land including its
legal title, the right to its appurtenance and any indemnification
received from the damage of the land was pledged.
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40.Transactions and Balances with

Related Parties

At the end of the reporting period, the Company provided
financial guarantee contracts to a bank amounting to
HK$75,000,000 (2014: HK$75,000,000) to secure certain
banking facilities granted to an associate.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

management during the year was as follows:

0. HEBALTEITZXREK

B 45 BR

REFRER NQRMA—FERITR
4 %8 /475,000,000 7T ( —ZF—pY
% : 75,000,000 70 ) 2 A R E
2RSSR T-HBERRCAET
RITEE-

T2EIEASRM

ESNHEBIZEBERENFALZ
FEE

2015 2014

—E-HF —E—F

HKS$'000 HK$'000

FExT TAIT

Short-term benefits 52 HAfE A 18,819 18,697
Retirement benefits scheme contributions & K48 Al 5t 21 it 7 120 71
18,939 18,768

The remuneration of directors and key executives of the Group
is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to

the performance of individuals and market trends.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
transactions with related parties during the year or significant

balances with them at the end of the reporting period.

AEBEZRERTTRABFHMEH
MEBEK2EREZTHERRLT

LBEEE -
B E XTI E SN F AL R E

ATETEMEARS - MK AR
RIFVEEKAERR
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41.Summary Financial Information of  41. R AT MBEERHER
the Company

REBHHR  ARAA QR MBARRE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period includes: 2 ERBE:
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T T
Total assets (note a) BEMEE (Mita) 4,833,273 3,982,919
Total liabilities (note b) BEBRE (HiED) (1,992,348) (1,240,188)
2,840,925 2,742,731
CAPITAL AND RESERVES ERR #FE
Share capital [N 16,053 11,213
Reserves (note c¢) i (M ac) 2,824,872 2,731,518
Total equity SRR 2,840,925 2,742,731
Notes: Bt -

(@)  The amount includes interests in subsidiaries and amounts due
from subsidiaries of approximately HK$4,824,161,000 (2014:

HK$3,976,085,000).

(b) The amount includes amounts due to subsidiaries of
approximately HK$1,613,673,000 (2014: HK$1,169,033,000).

162 Hanny Holdings Limited #5825 E 5 R 2 7]

(a) “ZEeHBRERNBARZEZKLIE
U B B8 R B FR I8 494,824,161,00078
L (= Z — P4 : 3,976,085,000/8

) @

(b) ZeBPRENKEBRARNELY
1,613,673,000/8 7 ( =T — P 4F :

1,169,033,000/% 7T ) °



the Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

41.Summary Financial Information of

41. KRB BEEREE (&

Wit (&)

(© (©
Capital  Investment
Share Contributed redemption  revaluation Retained Total
premium surplus reserve reserve profits reserves
EAEKE REEM
RGEE EARR e e REEF BRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT TET THT FET TET
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=5WNA—A 1,587,800 1,078,913 592 (1,109) 110,232 2,776,428
Loss for the year and FRABERFHNZE
total comprehensive X @
expense for the year - - - - (22,484) (22,484)
Transfer of contributed surplus EEEHBHRZE R EE
to accumulated losses - (500,000) - - 500,000 -
Dividend recognised as ERRAD KRS
distribution - - - - (22,426) (22,426)
At 31 March 2014 RZF-—MFE=A=+—H 1,587,800 578,913 592 (1,109) 565,322 2,731,518
Placing of new shares i & # ik 149,706 - - - - 149,706
Loss for the year and FABERFANZE
total comprehensive R R E
expense for the year - - - - (29,446) (29,446)
Dividend recognised as ERABDKZKE
distribution - - - - (26,906) (26,906)
At 31 March 2015 WZZ-RE=A=+—-H 1,737,506 578,913 592 (1,109) 508,970 2,824,872
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42.Event after the Reporting Period

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the Group has the

following events after the reporting period:

(a)

On 9 April 2015, the Board of Directors of the Company
has put forward a proposal to the shareholders with (1)
proposed share consolidation (“Share Consolidation”)
of every two issued and unissued shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of par value
of HK$0.02 each (“Consolidated Shares”), (2) proposed
change in board lot size from 4,000 shares to 10,000
Consolidated Shares upon Share Consolidation becoming
effective, and (3) proposed rights issue of 4,815,918,954
rights shares at HK$0.16 per rights share.

On 29 May 2015 and 8 June 2015, Precise Skill
Investments Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into sale and purchase
agreement and supplemental agreement, respectively
with Dr. Allan Yap, the Chairman and Executive Director
of the Company in relation to the acquisition of the
entire issued share of Smartmedia Ltd., a wholly and
beneficially owned by Dr. Allan Yap and the sale
loan, owing by Smartmedia Ltd. to Dr. Allan Yap
immediately before completion of the acquisition at a
maximum consideration of HK$195,900,008. All of the
consideration will be used for properties acquisition with
an independent third party, Right Union Development
Limited.
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42. R RER
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(b)

REARIE  REBA AT HRB
I8 :

ity

RZZE—RAFHEANB AR
AEEERRRIEZEZRNE
TMEZBRMHEH([KRHE
1) BRI REEMKRER
AE.ONEB T2 EBITR A
TRhEHAE—REREE
0.02B Lz &R (& HFR%
m1) - QEZEFERME FFEN
1% #% %X 5 B {1 f4,0004% i 19
¥ 2 A10,0000% & BER% 15 K. (3)
EEASRERRK G168 T
#ETT AR - 3£ 174,815,918,954
A& AR AR 1

RZZE—RAFRA-+NLAK
ZE—HF/NH/\B - Precise
Skill Investments Limited (£ &
RRRzEEZEMNBAR)
HARNAERFRBTEEFER
BETIIVEBEHZERERTH
& ' DA BE Smartmedia Ltd. (&
MERSBI2EEEHE)
2 H 2 ZE 1T & Smartmedia
Lid REEKRESEIBTKRIEXR
ERBEL 2 HEER RE
&5 4195,900,0088 7t ° & &
REG AR RBILE = FRight
Union Development Limited!&
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43.Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries 43. 2B AR Z#18

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 March RZE—RAF=ZA=+—HEKZ=Z
2015 and 31 March 2014 are as follows: —MFE=ZA=+—H8 ARAFEZEE
MEBARZEFBWT :

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ Class of paid share capital/ Proportion ownership interest Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiary registration shares held registered capital held by the Company held by the Company Principal activities
BRTRARKRE/ FRRERL FRRERL
WEAEAR HRAL/BR%%  BERHEH HhEL FERRELH FRELH IBEH
2015 2014 2015 2014
%-1% Z3-mE %-1% Z3-mE
Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly ~ Directly Indirectly
Ef B E% 3 E# B B 3
Hanny Group Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,100,000,200 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% Investment holding
RAKEERARAT 3 EER 1,100,000, 200% 7 RERR
5% non-voting HK$6,000,000
deferred shares (note ¢) 6,000,000 70
S ERFRELER G
(Hita)
WREATABKBEERAT PRC Ordinary RMB76,980,000 - 59.75% - 59.75% - 59.75% - 59.75%  Water supply business
(note ) HE EER AR 76,980,007 foks
WREATABKBEERAT
(Hitb)

Best Smooth BVI Ordinary Us§100 - 100% - 100% - 100% - 100% Investment holding

BIE KBRLES R 10057 RERR

Guangzhou Jixiang (note ) PRC Ordinary U5$17,180,000 - 51% - 51% - 51% - 51%  Development of

ENEH (Hi) 7 LAk 17,180,000E7 properties for sale

RENEMGLHE

Notes: Hfat -

a.  The holders of the 5% non-voting deferred shares are not a. SHEBREBELERMD Z2FHAE AR
entitled to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general WM ZAREMRREAS 28BS
meetings of the company. The non-voting deferred shares FHEFEATIRELRE-BERE
practically carry no rights to dividends or to participate in any TR T R 0 B IR b 0 S B 8 (EfaT 4
distribution on winding up. PR B kTR EREM S

K ©

b. These companies are registered in the form of foreign b. ZERAANIIFRELEELAE

investment enterprises. iC °
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43.Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries 43. EZMB AR Z##18 (&

(Continued)

ERNBEZAEEMB AR HESE
RARIBEFEARNERBEFAZEELRE
RARBFEREEFEERNBY A
T EERA HHAMKHEBARE
EYREBBRITE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the result of
the Group for the year or formed a substantial portion of the
net assets of the Group at the end of the year. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particular of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the FRBENB AR BITAEME
end of the year. Fo

BEERFEERER I EHB
RIFE1E

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-

controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary TRINEEEEREERER AE
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests: EIEEWNBRAFS:
Proportion of
Incorporation ownership Proportion of
and principal interest held by voting power held by (Loss) profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FEREREHZ FERERREZ FREFERERZ
WEAR %R AMALRTEEE Y RERRRELA REELA (F#8)ER Rt FERER
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ZB-1f C-Z-QE CZB-1Ff -Z-MmF CZB-1f C"T-NF <CB-EF C_T-QF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiET TER TiET
Guangzhou Jixiang PRC/Hong Kong
EMEH e/ ER 49% 49% 49% 49% (11,370) (9,865) 718,577 789,936
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests
A FERER 2 BRI FEXR
WEAR (887) 3,296 47,959 69,660
(12,257) (6,569) 826,536 859,596
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43.Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries 43. E2E AR 218 (&)
(Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's BEERFERERZAEERNER
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out Rl BB ERBESRSN T o T3 8
below. The summarised financial information below represents BEANMERETEEANQRIMELHE
amounts before intragroup eliminations. HIZ &8
Guangzhou Jixiang BN
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Current assets e & E 3,736,257 2,727,071
Non-current assets IERBEE 653 1,010
Current liabilities mRBAE (3,735,846) (2,666,926)
Non-current liabilities e EN=R (535,580) (573,489)
Equity attributable to owners of ZNY/NECIE RS DN L
the Company (1,313,093) (1,302,270)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R HE = 778,577 789,936
Other income H A 117 3,939
Distribution expenses oA X (13,534) =
Administrative expenses 1TE R X2 (9,787) (24,072)
Loss for the year FANEE (23,204) (20,133)
Loss attributable to owners of RNAFHEB AELER
the Company (11,834) (10,268)
Loss attributable to TR ERIEGER
the non-controlling interests (11,370) (9,865)
Loss for the year FANEE (23,204) (20,133)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from KEEBEEZEESRA
operating activities () F8E 149,751 (500,975)
Net cash outflow from investing activities &EEBEEZRE
7t R - (337)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from MEEKELEZES (RH)
financing activities A S (111,204) 488,280
Net cash inflow (outflow) WemA Ond) EE 38,547 (13,032)
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Financial Summary

BMEFHE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and AEBREBE-_T-—RF=A=+—HIE
liabilities of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 March hEAFESFHLEAEENEERABZH
2015 is set out below: BHEHR T :
o e
(a) Results (a) %%
Year ended 31 March
BE-A=t-HLEE
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—T——F —T—= —E-=fF —ZE-NF ZE-REF
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT FET BT
(restated)
(&=751)
(note)
(K1)
Revenue WA 23,222 78,129 180,620 26,721 120,052
Profit (loss) for the year from REFEELEEL 2 FNRF
continuing operations (&518) 96,881 (218,287)  (132,240)  (108,584) (87,582)
(Loss) profit for the year from REBRIEEEEBZER
discontinued operation (E#E) &7 (4,029) 30,142 - - -
Profit (loss) for the year FRaEH (EE) 92,852 (188,145)  (132,240)  (108,584) (87,582)
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company AARHEAA 81,865 (189,994)  (126,720)  (102,015) (75,325)
Non-controlling interests FEfE Bt a 10,987 1,849 (5,520) (6,569) (12,257)
92,852 (188,145) (132,240) (108,584) (87,582)
. e . o
(b) Assets and liabilities (b) EERAE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—-H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—2——F —T-——% —T-=F —T-NF —Z-HF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FTHT THET FHET THT B
Total assets BELE 4,223,012 4,098,602 4,747,554 4,989,820 5,982,058
Total liabilities BEBE (1,468,589) (691,787) (1,352,299) (1,756,501) (2,720,080)
2,754,423 3,406,815 3,395,255 3,233,319 3,261,978
Equity attributable to AT ALEE#ERS
Owners of the Company VNN FEDN 2,634,154 2,709,242 2,526,787 2,373,723 2,435,442
Non-controlling interests SRR R 120,269 697,573 868,468 859,596 826,536
2,754,423 3,406,815 3,395,255 3,233,319 3,261,978
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group entered Hiit: RBEE -_T——F=A=+—
into agreement to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Shine AIEFREA- A& E G W=
Brilliant Limited and Widecheer Limited (“Disposal Group”), i & Shine Brilliant Limited &
which carried out all of the Group’s sand mining operations. Widecheer Limited ([ & &
The completion of the disposal caused the Group lost control B - REAEEMARDER)
over the Disposal Group. Thereafter the Group discontinued 2.100% f% # - ) & =5 18 52 i 8 3
in the sand mining operations and presented as discontinued REBMAEHEESE 2 EHIHE o
operations. The comparative figures in the consolidated HE AEBDRTRERDE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 7% WG X 20 BE KR IEE
the year ended 31 March 2011 have been restated accordingly. BEE RSB MAMEE RS
RABE_ZT——F=F=+—
HIEFEZLREFTEREES -
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VISIONS AHEAD

Hanny Holdings Limited
REEEARAT

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability) (/A B S s Az 2 B R A F))
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